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Mission 
To resolve short-term insurance complaints fairly, efficiently and impartially.

Theme
The strength of a nation derives from the integrity of the home (Confucius).  Home insurance is essential to protect the average 
consumer’s most valuable asset.  South Africa has a colourful tapestry of traditional homes to which we pay tribute as our theme 
this year.

Ndebele Village
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1.  I am pleased to record that the operational results of the office, more fully referred 
to by the Ombudsman in his report, point to an office which continues to show 
stability in the face of a material increase in the number of complaints filed with it 
during the year.  The main objectives of the office are to serve both insurers and 
consumers in an impartial manner in resolving issues between them.  The stability 
of the office is evidenced by the fact that for the last three years there has been no 
turnover in professional staff.  The various changes to the procedures introduced 
by the current Ombudsman since the beginning of his term of office in January 
2012, and which were referred to in previous reports by him, continue to bear fruit.

2.  The purpose of my report and that of the Ombudsman is to focus on matters 
directly involving the office of the Ombudsman, rather than to comment on wider 
insurance issues which are best dealt with by insurers themselves, the South African 
Insurance Association and the Regulatory Authorities.  However, this does not 
mean that the office has lost sight of its obligation to liaise with the authorities 
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and to report any systemic issues which may come to 
the attention of the Ombudsman.  Thus the liaison with 
the Financial Services Board has been ongoing through a 
formal structure consisting of regular meetings with them.

3.  A further draft of the Financial Sector Regulation Bill was 
published for final comment in December 2014.  This 
legislation, it is anticipated by the National Treasury, will be 
considered by parliament during 2015.  After many years 
of debate and consideration, the Bill contains important 
amendments to the way voluntary Ombud Schemes 
will operate in future.  However, the independence of 
the Schemes is not materially affected and the power to 
appoint and remove an Ombud remains with the Board 
of Directors, or the Council of a Scheme, as the case may 
be.  Having said that, the New Market Conduct Authority 
envisaged by the Bill will have the authority to give directives 
and to establish norms and standards to which Ombud 
Schemes must comply.  This constitutes the additional 
oversight by the Regulatory Authorities which has been 
mooted for some time.  We have no reason to believe that 
it is the intention of the authorities to in any way restrict 
the independence of the Ombudsman by the exercise of 
these.  I am pleased to note that the relationship between 
the office on the one hand, and the Financial Services Board 
and the National Treasury on the other, remain on a sound 
footing with constructive engagements characterising  
our relationship.

4.  I hold the office of Chairman in an acting capacity until the 
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting which will be 

held in July 2015.  At such meeting the Board of Directors 
is to be reconstituted.  The Board will, for the time being, 
continue to be made up of four directors representing 
the interests of insurers, four directors representing the 
interests of consumers and two independent directors.  
However, in terms of the current wording of the Bill, in 
future no employee of an insurer can serve as a Director 
although the South African Insurance Association may 
nominate such a director.  The Bill provides that there is 
an 18 month period during which we will have to align 
our arrangements with the provisions of the Bill.  If the 
Bill remains unchanged, it means that within a period of 
18 months from promulgation, a new Board will have to 
be constituted in accordance with the Bill as ultimately 
enacted.  For the time being however the constitution of 
the Board will remain unaffected until finality is reached in 
regard to the legislative requirements.

5.  I associate myself with the comments made by the 
Ombudsman in his report thanking all former directors for 
the contribution made to the success of the institution.  I 
would also like to welcome the new directors, Ms. Farzana 
Badat and Ms. Leila Moonda who represent the interests 
of the Financial Services Board and the South African 
Insurance Association respectively.  I would also like to 
congratulate the office on its performance during 2014.

Wendy Knowler

Chairman of the Board
13 April 2015

REPORT BY THE CHAIRMAN
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REPORT BY 
THE OMBUDSMAN

Herewith the Ombudsman’s Annual Report for 2014.  Again I am pleased to report 
that the year under review can be described as having achieved the objectives set for 
the office in terms of its enabling legislation and the goals set by the office itself.

Statutory Environment

1.  The draft Financial Sector Regulation Bill was first published in December 2013 for 
public comment.  In my report for the year 2013, I commented on the interaction 
which this office, together with other Ombudsman Schemes, had had with the 
National Treasury in relation to that draft.  Time has now elapsed and in December 
2014 the second draft of the Bill was published.  

Dennis Jooste, Ombudsman
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We were again invited to comment and have done so in 
consultation and jointly with the three other voluntary 
Ombudsman Schemes, namely the Ombudsman for Long-
term Insurance, the Banking Ombudsman and the Credit 
Ombudsman.  During March 2015 a meeting was held with 
the National Treasury when we expanded on the views as 
set out in a joint memorandum commenting on the 2014 Bill.  

2.  While the Bill deals with all aspect of the so-called Twin 
Peaks Policy, I will only comment on that section of the 
Bill that deals directly with Ombudsman Schemes.   The 
outstanding points that emerge in relation to Ombudsman 
schemes are the following:

•  The idea of a single Ombudsman scheme is not pursued 
in the 2014 Bill although, in an accompanying commentary 
document distributed by National Treasury, it is indicated 
that ongoing discussions will be held in relation to this 
issue.  

•  A body such as a Board of Directors’ or a Council will 
continue to be in control of Ombudsman Schemes and 
will continue to have the power to appoint or remove 
the Ombudsman. It will be recalled that in this regard it 
was mooted that the power to appoint and remove the 
Ombudsman should vest not in the Board or Council, but 
with the Regulatory Authority.

•  Additional oversight of the Ombudsman Schemes 
has been introduced, giving the power to the council 
overseeing Ombudsman schemes the right to determine 
norms and standards and to give directives to schemes in 
certain respects.

•  The composition of the Board or Council of a voluntary 
scheme is circumscribed in that no person can serve as 
a director if such person is engaged in the business of a 
participant of the scheme.  In other words, no insurance 
industry representatives can serve on the Board although 
our reading of the Bill is that an industry body, such as 
the South African Insurance Association, will be entitled 
to nominate a person to the Board.

• All financial institutions must be members of a scheme.

•  After the Bill is enacted there will be an eighteen month 
period for affected institutions such as this office to align 
their affairs with the requirements of the Bill.

3.  We have been advised that the Bill in its final form will be 
placed before parliament during 2015 and we await to 
see the final form of the Bill with great interest.

Terms of Reference

4.  During 2014 our Terms of Reference were amended, 
with the approval of the FSOS Council, in the following 
respects:

•  The Ombudsman now has the power to condone late 
filing of a complaint upon good cause shown.  Prior to 
the amendment, the office had no jurisdiction to deal 
with a complaint which had been filed outside of the 
time period set out in a policy, subject however to any 
extended period as is provided for in the Policyholder 
Protection Rules.

REPORT BY THE OMBUDSMAN
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•  A clause in the Terms of Reference was deleted which 
previously provided that the Ombudsman did not have 
jurisdiction unless a complainant had tried “unsuccessfully 
to resolve the dispute through approaches to the 
insurer’s management or to its internal complaints 
handling section.”  The office now has jurisdiction to 
deal immediately with a complaint and need no longer 
enquire whether the complainant has tried unsuccessfully 
to resolve a dispute through approaches to the insurer’s 
management or to its internal complaints handling section.  
We had found that certain insurers were quick to take 
the point that this office does not have jurisdiction on 
the basis that the internal complaints procedure had not 
yet been exhausted, thereby frustrating the Ombudsman 
in its attempt to resolve complaints informally and as 
otherwise provided for in its Terms of Reference.

I am pleased to note that there have been no serious 
objections to these amendments from the industry.

Appeal Mechanism

5.  An Appeal Mechanism became effective with effect 
from the 1st December 2013.  This enables insurers and 
consumers who are dissatisfied with a Final Ruling made 
by the Ombudsman personally to seek redress from the 
Appeal Tribunal which has been established.  All details 
relating to the Appeal Mechanism are to be found on 
our website which explains amongst other things the 
procedures involved.  However, it is interesting to note 
that not one insurer or consumer has made use of this 
mechanism since its inception.  One of the hurdles to be 
overcome by a prospective appellant is to seek leave to 
appeal from the Ombudsman.  However, no applications 
for leave to appeal have been received.  The Appeal 
Mechanism has been widely publicised and the lack of use 
of the facility hopefully reflects a high level of acceptance 
of rulings made by the office.

Office Statistics

6.  The performance of the office continues to improve as 
is evidenced by the office statistics graphically portrayed 
elsewhere in this publication.  Of particular interest are 
the following:

•  The total number of complaints received was 10,253, 
an increase of 9.5% over the prior year.  Complaints 
unresolved after six months totalled only 54 at year end. 

•  The turnover rate, namely the total number of complaints 
resolved with some additional benefit to the insured 
expressed as a percentage of the total number of 
complaints closed, was 31% which shows a continuing 
decline in the overturn rate over the last few years.

•  The average turnaround time i.e. the period taken to 
resolve a dispute was 89 days which continues to show a 
pleasing declining trend.

•  The amount “recovered” for consumers was  
R116 249 665.

7.  It is clear that these statistics are indicative of an office 
operating at acceptable levels.  Of particular interest 
to me is the declining turnover rate over the last few 
years.  Many factors may have contributed to this.  One 
factor may be that due to economic stress, consumers 
are filing complaints with this office more out of hope 
than out of conviction that he or she has been treated 
unfairly.  Another factor may be the effect that initiatives 
such as the Treating Customers Fairly campaign, is having 
on the approach taken by insurers to claims resolution.  
Hopefully this is the main reason behind the decline in the 
turnover rate although no firm conclusions can be drawn 
as to the exact cause of the improvement.  In recent years 
another factor may be the publication of insurer statistics 
which will tend to identify those insurers which attract 
a disproportionate number of complaints or have high 
turnover rates.

Insurer Statistics

8.  This is the third report which contains detailed insurer 
statistics (for personal lines only) and attention is directed 
to these interesting statistics elsewhere in this report.  It 
pleases me to report that only three final rulings were 
made against insurers which, together with the statistics, 
reflects a pleasing level of co-operation received by 
the office from its insurer members.  The number of 
complaints received by the office per 1000 claims received 
by insurers remains a constant three complaints for every 
1000 claims.  This is the same number of complaints 
received during the years 2012 and 2013.
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Financial & Corporate Governance

9.  The audited financial statements are published elsewhere 
in this report.  The financial position of the company 
remains sound with all member insurers paying what was 
due by them in terms of our fee per case model.  Since 
we are a non-profit company, the objective is to cover 
annual expenses with a reasonable surplus to create 
reserves sufficient to cover unanticipated calls upon 
expenditure.  This has been achieved with a reasonable 
operating surplus of approximately R4.6 million.  The fee 
per complaint was increased from R3,000 in 2013 to 
R3,100 for the year under review.  Costs were kept well 
under control and hopefully this will be achieved in the 
foreseeable future.  The income of the company ultimately 
depends upon the number of new complaints received 
and it is comforting to note at least a slight increase in the 
number of complaints year by year.

10.  The company continues to focus on Corporate 
Governance issues and continues to operate under the 
guidance of the Board, an Executive Committee and an 
Audit Committee, all of whom meet on a regular basis.  

Furthermore, we are assisted by our internal auditors 
who continue to advise on a range of issues as an aid to 
management.  A formal risk analysis is reviewed not only 
by management but also by the Audit Committee and the 
Board at quarterly meetings.  As new risks are identified 
appropriate avoidance mechanisms are taken for a 
company of our size.  The risk avoidance and corporate 
governance mechanisms that are in place should be more 
than sufficient to give comfort to all members of the 
scheme and the regulatory authorities.

11.  During the year the lease of the premises at the Sunnyside 
Office Park, Parktown was extended for a period of five 
years expiring on the 31st April 2019.

Staff

12.  The assistant Ombudsman component remains stable 
with no additional appointments, resignations or 
dismissals having taken place during 2014.  This stability at 
professional level is of critical importance to maintain the 
increased level of productivity of the office.  

REPORT BY THE OMBUDSMAN
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Staff morale is closely monitored by the Ombudsman not 
only at professional level but at all staff levels throughout the 
organisation.  The human resource function is a responsibility 
of the General Manager who has reference to formal 
documentation setting out our internal Codes of Conduct, 
Grievance Procedures, Disciplinary Procedures and the like.  To 
the extent that it is necessary, we employ external consultants 
to furnish us with advice in regard to market related salary 
levels and legal issues where appropriate.

Consumer Education 

13.  We continue to be represented on the Financial Services 
Board Consumer Education Committee and we were 
represented at the Annual Financial Education Strategy 
conference arranged by the KZN Provincial Government.  
Consumer Education takes many forms which include 
public relations activities where we strive to ensure a 
high educational content.  The increased number of 
complaints is evidence that the cumulative effect of our 
public relations and consumer education programmes 
are having the desired effect although we should guard 
against complacency.  It is interesting to note that in terms 
of the 2014 Financial Sector Regulation Bill, one of the 
functions of the Council to be established to oversee 
Ombudsman Schemes will be tasked specifically with 
promoting consumer education.  This is to be welcomed, 
as Ombudsman Schemes themselves simply do not have 
the capacity or the budget to educate all purchasers of 
financial products and, specifically, insurance products.  
Consumer education has rightfully been identified as 
being the responsibility not only of the industry but also 
of the authorities and Ombudsman Schemes generally.  
We will continue to make an appropriate contribution in 
this regard.

Public Relations

14.  Throughout the year there have been numerous media 
appearances and interviews not only by the Ombudsman 
but also with the Deputy Ombudsman and other 
members of the professional staff.  These are far too 
numerous to mention specifically as part of this report.  
This is an important activity for obvious reasons, namely, 
that not only does it raise awareness amongst members 
of the public about the free service offered by the office 
but also, hopefully, creates an image of professionalism 
that should serve as an encouragement to not only the 
industry but all consumer bodies.  We strive not only to 
react but also to be proactive in ensuring media coverage.  

This takes the form of press releases, the publication on 
our website of a quarterly Ombudsman’s briefcase, the 
establishment of an internal public relations committee, 
the appointment of an external public relations consultant 
and the use of a Twitter account which distributes regular 
Ombudsman’s tips to interested parties.

Treating Customers Fairly

15.  The Treating Customers Fairly initiative under the 
auspices of the Financial Services Board may well be 
one of the contributing factors leading to our reducing 
overturn rates.  I have commented upon this elsewhere 
in the report.  However, in our interaction with insurers 
we more regularly than in the past hear references to TCF 
which is a development to be highly welcomed.

The Ombudsman’s Association of  
South Africa 

16.  This is an association of local Ombuds which has existed 
for some time but which in recent years has become 
moribund.  However, during the course of 2014 efforts 
were made to resuscitate this organisation.  A new 
constitution has been agreed and the object is that the 
association will deal with matters of common interest 
amongst Ombudsman and where necessary, act as a 
spokesman for Ombudsman Schemes, both voluntary 
and statutory, who are members.  We continue to be 
a member of the International Network of Financial 
Ombuds although we did not attend the 2014 Annual 
Conference which was held in Trinidad.

The Board of Directors

17.  Changes during the year included the resignation of 
Lesedi Letwaba of the Financial Services Board and the 
former Chairman, John Myburgh, SC who was replaced 
by Wendy Knowler as Acting Chairperson until the next 
Annual General Meeting to be held in July 2015.  After 
many years of service Barry Scott, the nominee of the 
South African Insurance Association resigned as did 
Jonathan Dixon as nominee of the Financial Services 
Board.  Jonathan Dixon has been replaced by Farzana 
Badat and Barry Scott by Leila Moonda.  Our appreciation 
is expressed to all former directors and in particular to 
Barry Scott and Jonathan Dixon who served for many 
years on the Board and who had given wise counsel 
throughout this time.
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New Members

18.  No applications for membership were received during 
2014 with the result that there were 54 insurer members 
at year end.

Appreciation

19.  The stable environment in which the Scheme finds itself 
at present is due to the contributions made by many 
individuals including the Board members, members of 

Board committees, the Audit committee and last but not 
least the staff of the ombudsman’s office.  Our thanks 
are due to all of them.  We also should acknowledge the 
constructive relationship which the organisation has with 
the industry body namely the South African Insurance 
Association, the FSOS Council, the Financial Services 
Board and the National Treasury.

Dennis Jooste

13 April 2015

REPORT BY THE OMBUDSMAN
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Office Statistics
Rand Value of complaints resolved in favour of the insured 
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Final Rulings 2014 

Files closed within a 6 month period

Average Days to Resolve complaints

Types of Complaints
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Insurer statistics and  
Explanatory notes
Explanatory Notes

1.  The data must be understood in the correct context 
and it is therefore necessary to record some words of 
explanation in relation to these statistics.

Ombudsman’s limited jurisdiction

2.  The office of the Ombudsman has limited jurisdiction over 
commercial lines policies and, in any event, has jurisdiction 
for personal lines business only up to R2 million, save for 
home owners claims where the jurisdictional limit is R4 
million. The statistics therefore focus only on personal 
lines claims (statistics provided by the Financial Services 
Board) and personal lines complaints received by this 
office.  Commercial lines complaints which are not 
reflected in the statistics, represent only about 7.0% of 
total complaints to the office of the Ombudsman.   

3.  No adverse conclusions should be drawn against any 
insurer based purely on the number of complaints 
against them received by this office.  Larger insurers issue 
proportionately more policies which cannot form the 
basis of a complaint to this office due to our jurisdictional 
limits.  Thus, for example, when considering the 

percentage of complaints received by this office against a 
large insurer, the large insurer, upon a superficial analysis, 
therefore appears to attract a relatively low number of 
complaints. What is the more important statistic is the 
proportion of personal lines complaints relative to an 
insurer’s share of the total personal lines claims reported 
to the Financial Services Board.  The clearest indicator of 
this is column 5, being the number of complaints to this 
office per thousand claims received by an insurer.  Where 
an insurer attracts a high number of complaints to this 
office per thousand claims, this may be an indication that 
claims were dealt with unfairly by the insurer.  However, 
this statistic should be considered in conjunction with 
column 8, being the overturn rate.  The overturn rate is an 
indicator that the decision of the insurer was changed in 
some respect by this office with some additional benefit 
to the insured.  Further comments on the overturn rate 
appear below.  

4.  Please note that a claim can be received by an insurer in 
year one and a complaint in respect of that claim may be 
received by OSTI only in year two – hence the number 
in column 3 may be greater than the number in column 
1.  The statistics record the numbers received by insurers 
and the OSTI respectively during 2014.
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5.  Also note that under column 1, certain insurers are 
shown by the FSB statistics as having received no claims 
during 2014.  This may be explained on the basis of either 
the company issuing only commercial lines policies or that 
the company is dormant.  We repeat that only personal 
lines statistics are included in the table as this is what has 
been received from the FSB (columns 1 and 2).

Overturn Rate

6.  The overturn rate per insurer as shown in the table is for 
personal lines claims only.  It excludes commercial lines 
claims.  However, the overall 31% overturn rate mentioned 
in the Ombudsman’s report includes both types of 
claims.  If a high overturn rate is registered, this may, but 
not necessarily, indicate that the insurer is not treating its 
customers as fairly as it should.   However the overturn 
rate should be treated with considerable caution as a high 
overturn rate can also be indicative of a high degree of 

co-operation being received by the Ombudsman’s office 
from a particular insurer in resolving a complaint to the 
satisfaction of the customer.  The Ombudsman takes into 
account the following circumstances in determining the 
Overturn Rate:

 a)  The decision of the insurer is overturned by the 
Ombudsman by way of a recommendation which is 
accepted or by way of a Final Ruling.

 b)  A resolution of the dispute has been mediated by 
the Ombudsman with the insured receiving a benefit 
which he/she would not have received without the 
involvement of the Ombudsman.

General

7.  Any media queries in relation to insurer statistics should 
be directed to the particular insurer.
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Ombudsman For Short-Term Insurance (“OSTI”)
Annual Statistics - January 2014 to December 2014 
(Personal Lines Only : Commercial Lines Excluded) 
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Absa Insurance Co Ltd* 275 588 9,23% 1 037 10,82%   4/1000 1 091 424 38,86%

Ace Insurance 383 0,01% 13 0,14%  13/1000 13 4 30,77%

AIG South Africa Limited 2 861 0,10% 32 0,33%  11/1000 35 16 45,71%

Alexander Forbes Insurance Co Ltd 52 519 1,76% 179 1,87%   3/1000 168 45 26,79%

Allianz Insurance Company** 0 0,00% 0 0,00% 0/1000 0 0 0,00%

Auto & General Insurance Co Ltd 109 490 3,67% 408 4,26%   4/1000 442 147 33,26%

Bidvest Insurance Ltd 14 528 0,49% 29 0,30%   2/1000 26 3 11,54%

Budget Insurance Co Ltd 65 559 2,20% 362 3,78%   6/1000 376 125 33,24%

Centriq Insurance Company (RF) Ltd 82 918 2,78% 153 1,60%   2/1000 166 62 37,35%

Compass Insurance Co Ltd 3 632 0,12% 31 0,32%   9/1000 41 8 19,51%

Constantia Insurance Co Ltd 30 588 1,02% 72 0,75%   2/1000 83 37 44,58%

Corporate Guarantee 0 0,00% 0 0,00% 0/1000 0 0 0,00%

Dial Direct Insurance Co Ltd 57 991 1,94% 265 2,77%   5/1000 288 107 37,15%

Discovery Insure Ltd 53 015 1,78% 170 1,77%   3/1000 149 34 22,82%

Emerald Insurance $ 0 0,00% 0 0,00% 0/1000 0 0 0,00%

Etana Insurance Company Ltd 0 0,00% 0 0,00% 0/1000 13 3 23,08%

First for Woman Insurance Company Ltd 47 700 1,60% 173 1,81%   4/1000 193 76 39,38%

Genric Insurance 4 785 0,16% 26 0,27%   5/1000 38 6 15,79%

Guardrisk Insurance Co Ltd 159 333 5,34% 497 5,19%   3/1000 452 180 39,82%

Hollard Insurance Co Ltd 331 825 11,12% 632 6,60%   2/1000 607 187 30,81%

Indequity Specialised Insurance Ltd 2 141 0,07% 7 0,07%   3/1000 10 2 20,00%

Infiniti Company Ltd 21 130 0,71% 52 0,54%   2/1000 62 13 20,97%

JDG Micro Insurance Ltd 10 060 0,34% 8 0,08%   1/1000 6 4 66,67%

King Price Insurance 18 744 0,63% 250 2,61%  13/1000 239 39 16,32%

Legal Wise 24 272 0,81% 110 1,15%   5/1000 106 32 30,19%

Lion of Africa Insurance Co Ltd 1 353 0,05% 11 0,11%  8/1000 9 3 33,33%

Lloyd’s South Africa  691 0,02% 7 0,07%  10/1000 11 2 18,18%

Lombard Insurance Group 2 894 0,10% 6 0,06%   2/1000 11 3 27,27%

Miway Insurance Co Ltd 84 186 2,82% 569 5,94%   7/1000 558 126 22,58%

Momentum ST Insurance Company Ltd 18 871 0,63% 29 0,30%   2/1000 25 6 24,00%
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Ombudsman For Short-Term Insurance (“OSTI”)
Annual Statistics - January 2014 to December 2014 
(Personal Lines Only : Commercial Lines Excluded) 

INSURER STATISTICS AND ExPLANATORY NOTES
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Monarch Insurance Co Ltd 25 953 0,87% 12 0,13% 0/1000 11 6 54,55%

Mutual & Federal Insurance Co Ltd 155 598 5,21% 599 6,25%   4/1000 602 160 26,58%

Natsure Ltd # 0 0,00% 1 0,01% 0/1000 1 0 0,00%

Nedinsurance Co Ltd 57 337 1,92% 294 3,07%   5/1000 280 90 32,14%

New National Assurance Co Ltd 38 249 1,28% 521 5,44%  14/1000 541 254 46,95%

NMS Insurance 74 021 2,48% 0 0,00% 0/1000 1 1 100,00%

Oakhurst Insurance Company Ltd 17 719 0,59% 164 1,71%   9/1000 163 59 36,20%

Old Mutual Health Insurance Ltd 1 158 0,04% 3 0,03%   3/1000 3 0 0,00%

Outsurance Insurance Co Ltd 290 010 9,72% 493 5,15%   2/1000 499 69 13,83%

R M B Structured Insurance 28 606 0,96% 457 4,77%  16/1000 466 141 30,26%

Regent Insurance 55 743 1,87% 172 1,80%   3/1000 170 39 22,94%

Relyant Insurance Co Ltd 10 711 0,36% 2 0,02% 0/1000 1 1 100,00%

Renasa Insurance Company Ltd 41 656 1,40% 53 0,55%   1/1000 67 22 32,84%

S A Home Loans 23 249 0,78% 94 0,98%   4/1000 95 17 17,89%

SAFIRE Insurance Co Ltd 5 740 0,19% 7 0,07%   1/1000 6 4 66,67%

Santam Ltd 425 617 14,26% 680 7,10%   2/1000 728 213 29,26%

SASRIA 333 0,01% 0 0,00% 0/1000 0 0 0,00%

Saxum Insurance 4 485 0,15% 58 0,61%  13/1000 56 21 37,50%

Shoprite Insurance Company 15 640 0,52% 19 0,20%   1/1000 17 8 47,06%

Standard Insurance Ltd 119 506 4,00% 523 5,46%   4/1000 520 124 23,85%

Sunderland Marine Africa 0 0,00% 0 0,00% 0/1000 0 0 0,00%

Unitrans Insurance Company Ltd 2 554 0,09% 4 0,04%   2/1000 4 1 25,00%

Vodacom 65 073 2,18% 49 0,51%   1/1000 56 20 35,71%

Western National Insurance Company Ltd 12 940 0,43% 83 0,87%   6/1000 80 19 23,75%

Zurich Insurance Co S A Ltd 35 269 1,18% 165 1,72%   5/1000 181 43 23,76%

TOTAL 2 984 224 100,00% 9 581 100%   3/1000 9 766 3 006 30,78%

Please Note:        
* The Statistics for ABSA Insurance Co Ltd include statistics for ABSA Idirect and ABSA Insurance Risk Management Services Limited.     
    
FSB Legend         
**  Corporate clients only         
$ Run-off        
# Deregistered
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Zulu village in Kwa-Zulu Natal
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The reports and statements set out below comprise the financial statements presented to the members:

Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval 20
Directors’ Report 21 - 22
Independent Auditor’s Report 24
Statement of Financial Position 25
Statement of Comprehensive Income 26
Statement of Changes in Equity 26
Statement of Cash Flows 27
Accounting Policies 28 - 32
Notes to the Financial Statements 33 - 40

The following supplementary information does not form part of the financial statements and is unaudited:
Detailed Income Statement 41

The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC

(Reg. No 2000/030638/08)

Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2014
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Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval

The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act of South Africa to maintain adequate accounting records and are 
responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It is 
their responsibility to ensure that the financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the company as at the end of the 
financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the financial statements.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the 
company and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these 
responsibilities, the directors set standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. 
The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the company 
and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the company’s business is conducted in a 
manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the company is on identifying, 
assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the company. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the 
company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied 
and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct has been integrated into company strategies and operations.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal 
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the financial statements. 
However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the company’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 December 2015 and, in light of this review and 
the current financial position, they are satisfied that the company has access to adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the company’s financial statements. The financial 
statements have been examined by the company’s external auditors and their report is presented on page 24.

The external auditors were given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings 
of members, the board of directors and committees of the board. The directors believe that all representations made to the 
independent auditors during their audit are valid and appropriate.

The financial statements and additional schedules set out on pages 25 to 41, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, 
were approved by the directors on 23 March 2015 and were signed on its behalf by:

 

Chairman      Director
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Directors’ Report

The directors submit their report for the year ended 31 December 2014.

1. Incorporation

The company was incorporated in South Africa on 01 January 2001 as an association not for gain.

2. Review of activities

Main business and operations

The company provides the services of a mediator between complainants and short term insurance companies.

Registered office Sunnyside Office Park
5th Floor, Building D
32 Princess of Wales Terrace
Parktown
2193

Postal address PO Box 32334
Braamfontein
2017

3. Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes 
that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent 
obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

4. Events after the reporting period

The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year that could have a significant 
impact on the financial statements set out on pages 25 to 40. 

5. Directors

The trustees of the trust during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

Name Nationality Changes
WL Knowler (Acting Chairman) South African
RS Steyn (Vice Chairman) South African
JF Myburgh (Chairman) South African Resigned 11 April 2014
PG Walters South African
B Scott South African Resigned 17 November 2014
L Bennie South African
GW Genis South African
NN Zungu South African
P Crankshaw South African
LP Letwaba South African Appointed 01 January 2014, resigned 29 July 2014
CN Molepe South African
F Badat South African Appointed 17 November 2014
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6. Secretary

The secretary of the company is MK Matabane of:

Business address Sunnyside Office Park
5th Floor, Building D
32 Princess of Wales Terrace
Parktown
2193

Postal address PO Box 32334
Braamfontein
2017

7. Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. will continue in office in accordance with the members resolution. The OSTI Bankers are Nedbank 
Corporate. The financial statements have been audited in compliance with the applicable requirements of the Companies Act of 
South Africa and were independently compiled under the supervision of P Vermeulen CA (SA).
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fisherman’s cottage, 
Arniston Western Cape.
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Independent Auditor’s Report  
To the Members of  The Ombudsman for Short Term Insurance NPC
We have audited the financial statements of the Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC set out on pages 25 to 40 which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2014, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Ombudsman for Short-
Term Insurance NPC as at 31 December 2014, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

Other reports required by the Companies Act

As part of our audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014, we have read the Directors’ Report for 
the purpose of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between this report and the audited financial statements. This 
report is the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading this report we have not identified material inconsistencies 
between this report and the audited financial statements. However, we have not audited this report and accordingly do not express 
an opinion on this report.

Other Matter

The supplementary information set out on page 41 does not form part of the financial statements and is presented as additional 
information.  We have not audited these schedules and accordingly we do not express an opinion thereon. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 

Director: J. R. Mistri
Registered Auditor 
Johannesburg
23 March 2015

The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC
(Reg. No 2000/030638/08)
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2014
2014 2013

Notes R R

Assets

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 4 1,319,135 1,026,906

Intangible assets 5 242,527 171,115

1,561,662 1,198,021

Current Assets

Trade and other receivables 8 5,361,711 4,112,931

Cash and cash equivalents 9 12,953,040 11,379,093

18,314,751 15,492,024

Total Assets 19,876,413 16,690,045

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Retained income 8,007,893 3,374,832

Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Retirement benefit obligation 7 488,284 501,536

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 12 4,167,126 5,290,198

Deferred income 10 6,968,800 7,298,600

Provisions 11 244,310 224,879

11,380,236 12,813,677

Total Liabilities 11,868,520 13,315,213

Total Equity and Liabilities 19,876,413 16,690,045

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The notes on pages 33 to 40 are an integral part of these financial statements. 

The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC
(Reg. No 2000/030638/08)
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
2014 2013

Notes R R

Revenue 14 31,769,600 29,494,500

Other income 15 14,829 2,226

Operating expenses 16 (28,066,315) (27,122,218)

Operating surplus 3,718,114 2,374,508

Finance income 17 914,947 632,872

Finance costs 18 - (2,154)

Surplus for the year 4,633,061 3,005,226

Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,633,061 3,005,226

Statement of Changes in Equity
Retained 

income

Total equity

R R

Balance at 01 January 2013 369,606 369,606

Surplus for the year 3,005,226 3,005,226

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,005,226 3,005,226

Balance at 01 January 2014 3,374,832 3,374,832

Surplus for the year 4,633,061 4,633,061

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,633,061 4,633,061

Balance at 31 December 2014 8,007,893 8,007,893

The notes on pages 33 to 40 are an integral part of these financial statements. 

The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC
(Reg. No 2000/030638/08)
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Cash Flows
2014 2013

Notes R R

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 21 1,507,349 269,333
Finance income 914,947 632,872
Finance costs - (2,154)

Net cash flows from operating activities 2,422,296 900,051

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4 (716,967) (615,069)
Proceeds from sale of zero valued property, plant and 
equipment

15 520 50

Purchase of other intangible assets 5 (131,902) (11,874)

Net cash flows from investing activities (848,349) (626,893)

Cash flows from financing activities

Total cash movement for the year 1,573,947 273,158

Cash at the beginning of the year 11,379,093 11,105,935

Total cash at end of the year 9 12,953,040 11,379,093

The notes on pages 33 to 40 are an integral part of these financial statements. 

The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC
(Reg. No 2000/030638/08)
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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Accounting Policies     

1. Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the Companies 
Act of South Africa. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the measurement of 
investment properties and certain financial instruments at fair value, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. 
They are presented in South African Rands.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 Property, plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the company; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently 
to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant 
and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the 
statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at the revalued amount, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is restated 
proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of the asset after revaluation 
equals its revalued amount.

The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly to retained 
earnings when the asset is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over 
the estimated useful lives of each part of the assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Item Average useful life

Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Computer equipment 4 years

Depreciation methods,useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within 
‘Other income ‘ in the statement of comprehensive income.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the company and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC
(Reg. No 2000/030638/08)
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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1.2 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and

• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

Amortisation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
intangible assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Item Useful life

Software 4 years

Armotisation methods and useful lives are reassessed annually.

1.3 Financial instruments

Classification

The company classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

• Loans and receivables

• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial instruments are derecognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
On initial recognition, financial instruments are recognised on trade date at cost including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition these instruments are measured as set below.

A financial liability is derecognised when it is legally extinguished.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

The company classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability 
or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not determinable, 
which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are included in the initial measurement 
of the instrument.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated 
impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC
(Reg. No 2000/030638/08)
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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1.3 Financial instruments continued...

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the company assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, to determine 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the company, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and 
default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below 
its cost is considered an indicator of impairment. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative 
loss-measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity as a reclassification adjustment to other comprehensive income 
and recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the 
date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss except for equity investments classified as available for sale.

Impairment losses are not subsequently reversed for available-for-sale equity investments which are held at cost because fair value 
was not determinable.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or 
loss within operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is made against the relevant allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables originated by the company are stated at cost.  Trade and other receivables  are recognised according 
to the contractual terms on registered cases.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal payments and amortisations.

Financial asset

A financial asset is derecognised when the company loses control over the contractual rights that comprise an asset and consequently 
transfers substantively all the risk and benefits associated with the asset on trade date. This occurs when the rights are realised, 
expire or are surrendered.

The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC
(Reg. No 2000/030638/08)
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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1.4 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified 
as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Leases of property and equipment where the company assumes substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership are classified 
as finance leases. Fixed assets leased in terms of finance lease agreements are capitalised at the estimated present value of the 
underlying lease payments and are depreciated in accordance with the policies applicable to equivalent items of property, plant 
and equipment. Corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long term payables. Lease finance 
charges are amortised over the duration of the leases by the effective interest rate method which takes into account the effective 
interest charge on the lease.

Leases where the lessor retains the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset are classified as operating leases. 
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the 
period of the lease.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between 
the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset. This asset is  
not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

1.5 Impairment 

The company assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
such indication exists, the company estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the company also:

•  tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not yet available for use for impairment annually by 
comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed during the annual period and 
at the same time every period.

•  tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually.

The carrying amounts of the company’s assets are reviewed at the statement of financial position date to determine whether there 
is any indication of impairment. If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, its recoverable amount is estimated and 
any impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the difference between the recoverable amount 
and carrying amount. The recoverable amount is the amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

1.6 Revenue

Revenue represents fees charged for complaints received against insurers. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for services provided, stated net of discounts, credit notes and value 
added tax. The company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured and when it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the entity. Revenue is recognised based on actual closed complaints cases. 

Penalty income of double the current fee is charged to insurers for delays in resolving matters.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC
(Reg. No 2000/030638/08)
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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1.7	 Employee	benefits

Short term employee benefits

The cost of short term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation 
leave, sick leave and bonuses), are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their 
entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive 
obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity.  The company 
has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees 
the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due. The company has no further 
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

Payments made to industry-managed (or state plans) retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined contribution plans 
where the company’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

1.8 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• the company has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

•  it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation. Historical 
data are used to estimate the provision for credit notes to be approved in the subsequent year which relates to the provision  
financial year.

1.9 Interest income

Interest is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a time proportionate basis, taking account of the principal 
outstanding and the effective interest rate over the period to maturity, when it is probable that such income will accrue to  
the company.

1.10	 Post-retirement	medical	aid	benefit	liability

Obligations for contributions to post-retirement medical aid benefits are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive 
income as incurred.

1.11 Deferred income

Income received that relates to future financial periods is recognised as deferred income.

Insurers are billed in accordance with the cases that have been registered for the financial year and revenue is recognised based 
on cases that have been closed. As such, cases that have not yet been closed at the end of the reporting period represent  
deferred income.

The Ombudsman for Short-Term Insurance NPC
(Reg. No 2000/030638/08)
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The company has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are 
mandatory for the company’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2015 or later periods: 

Standard/ Interpretation: Effective date:  

Years beginning on or after

Expected impact:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 01 January 2018 The impact of the standard is not material.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers

01 January 2017 The impact of the standard is not material.

3. Risk management

Capital risk management

The company manages capital risk by aiming to maintain capital reserves that will enable the company to cover at least five months 
of operating expenditure.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk indicates a company’s ability to meet its financial obligations. The company has various cash management procedures 
and processes in place. The company funds are available within 32 days.

No maturity profile has been provided for liabilities as all accounts payable at year end will be settled within 3 months.

Market risk

The company’s exposure to market risk is limited to interest rate risk. There is no exposure to currency risk as all transactions are 
Rand denominated and there is no exposure to other market risks. The company monitors the South African economy and the 
decisions taken by the South African monetary committee on treasury matters.

Interest rate risk

The company holds funds with financial institutions. There is a risk that the value of the financial instrument will fluctuate as a result 
of the changes in the market interest rates. The company monitors the credit rating of these financial institutions to ensure that no 
variation from predetermined expectations exists.

A two percent change in interest rates would have changed equity and surplus to the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes 
that all other variables remain constant. 

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the inability or unwillingness of counterparty to a financial instrument to discharge its contractual obligations. 

The company is exposed to the following credit risk:

2014 2013

R R

Financial instrument
Trade and other receivables 5,313,523 4,031,051
Cash and cash equivalents 12,953,040 11,379,093
Nedbank rating:  AA+
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Sensitivity analysis

Surplus for the year Equity
Reported as at 31 December 2014 4,633,061 3,005,226
Estimated surplus as at 31 December 2014 taking into account the following variables:

Increase in interest rate by 2 percentage points 4,892,120 3,232,808
Decrease in interest rate by 2 percentage points 4,373,998 2,777,644

4. Property, plant and equipment

2014 2013

Cost Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying 

value

Cost Accumulated 

depreciation

Carrying 

value

Furniture and fixtures 911,677 (732,711) 178,966 882,756 (662,918) 219,838

Computer equipment 2,928,894 (1,788,725) 1,140,169 2,252,178 (1,445,110) 807,068
Total 3,840,571 (2,521,436) 1,319,135 3,134,934 (2,108,028) 1,026,906

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 2014

Opening balance Additions Transfers/Write 

off

Depreciation Closing balance

Furniture and fixtures 219,838 28,921 - (69,793) 178,966
Computer equipment 807,068 688,046 (4,957) (349,988) 1,140,169

1,026,906 716,967 (4,957) (419,781) 1,319,135

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment 2013

Opening 

balance

Additions Transfers Revaluations Depreciation Closing 

balance

Furniture and fixtures 229,276 71,426 (48,738) 48,738 (80,864) 219,838
Computer equipment 572,083 543,643 (1,289) 1,289 (308,658) 807,068

801,359 615,069 (50,027) 50,027 (389,522) 1,026,906

 A register containing the information required by Regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations, 2011 is available for inspection 
at the registered office of the company.

5. Intangible assets

2014 2013

Cost Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying value Cost Accumulated 
amortisation

Carrying value

Software 913,493 (670,966) 242,527 781,591 (610,476) 171,115

Reconciliation of intangible assets   2014

Opening balance Additions Amortisation Closing balance

Software 171,115 131,902 (60,490) 242,527

Reconciliation of intangible assets   2013

Opening balance Additions Amortisation Closing balance

Software 246,888 11,874 (87,647) 171,115
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6. Financial assets by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2014 Loans and 

receivables

Total

Trade and other receivables 5,313,523 5,313,523
Cash and cash equivalents 12,953,040 12,953,040

18,266,563 18,266,563

2013 Loans and 

receivables

Total

Trade and other receivables 4,031,051 4,031,051
Cash and cash equivalents 11,379,093 11,379,093

15,410,144 15,410,144

7. Retirement benefits

2014

R

2013

R
Balance sheet obligations for :
Retirement benefits 488,284 501,536
Post-retirement medical aid benefits

Movements for the year

Movement in the obligation recognised in the statement of financial position
Opening defined benefit obligation 501,536 516,721
Interest cost 27,092 21,847
Benefits paid (40,344) (37,032)
Closing defined benefit obligation 488,284 501,536

Assumptions used

Discount rate and medical aid inflation:

The post-retirement medical aid benefits are actuarially valued at the discretion of management, at intervals of no more than 
three years on the projected unit credit method. The post-retirement medical aid liability was last valued as at December 2012. 
Management assesses key assumptions used in the latest available actuarial valuation on an annual basis. Management did not identify 
any significant differences when assumption used in the December 2012 valuation were compared to medical aid inflation and 
the discount rate prevailing as at 31 December 2014. The discount rate was set equal to the yield on a zero coupon government 
bond with a term of approximately 8 years. Medical aid inflation was estimated based on the Consumer Price Index plus a 1% to 
2% margin. The principal assumptions are as follows:

2014

R

2013

R
Discount rates used 8.00% 8.00%
Medical aid inflation 6.83% 6.83%

Mortality:

The PA90(f) (Female Immediate Annuitants) table was used to calculate the obligation as there is one ex employee on the  
post-retirement medical plan.

The following amounts were recognised in the statement of Comprehensive Income:

Interest cost 27,092 21,847
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MEDICAL AID INFLATION

Sensitivity analysis Central 

assumption 

6.93%

-1% 1%

Defined benefit obligation liability 31 December 2014 (R’) 488,284 446,878 536,336
% Change - 8.5% 9.8%

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Present value of the medical aid obligation 488,284 501,536 516,721 398,649 428,494
Deficit in the plan 488,284 501,536 516,721 398,649 428,494

Experience adjustments

There were no significant experience adjustments in the past four years.

8. Trade and other receivables 

2014

R

2013

R

VAT 48,188 81,880
Under invoiced in current year 5,221,630 3,987,660
Other receivables 91,893 43,391

5,361,711 4,112,931

As of 31 December 2014, no trade and other receivables were impaired or provided for.

Amortised cost approxitimates fair value.

9. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Bank balances 12,953,040 11,379,093

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value.

Bank and cash balances earned interest at rates of approximatly 6% on the call account and 2% on the current account during the 
year.

The bank held the following guarantees in respect of a operating lease held with Growthpoint for the building.

Guarantee by the bank 126,883 126,883

The extent of facilities with the client:

Asset based finance facility 81,576 81,576
Letters of guarantee facility 254,000 254,000

335,576 335,576
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10. Deferred income 

Balance brought forward on open cases 7,298,600 8,883,700
Opening balance adjustment 3,000 388,100
Registered cases in current year 31,784,300 28,104,000
Total closed cases in current year (31,844,100) (29,884,000)
100% credit notes (288,000) (207,000)
Accrued income 15,000 13,800

6,968,800 7,298,600

11. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions 2014

Opening 

balance

Additions Utilised during 

the year

Closing 

balance

Audit fees 224,879 190,000 (170,569) 244,310

Reconciliation of provisions 2013

Opening 

balance

Additions Utilised during 

the year

Closing 

balance

Audit fees 292,000 174,900 (242,021) 224,879

 

12. Trade and other payables 

Accrued salaries - 25,238
Sundry creditors 55,754 49,804
Cash received in advance 2,323,832 4,108,855
Accrued expenses 1,098,468 213,866
Leave accrual 689,072 892,435

4,167,126 5,290,198

Fair value of trade and other payables

Amortised cost approxitimates fair value.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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13. Financial liabilities by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

2014 Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised 

cost

Total

Trade and other payables 1,154,222 1,154,222

2013 Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised 

cost

Total

Trade and other payables 4,158,659 4,158,659

14. Revenue

Fee income 31,844,100 29,884,000
Penalty income 969,800 791,000
Credit note adjustments (1,044,300) (1,180,500)

31,769,600 29,494,500

15. Other income

Other income 14,309 2,176
Profit on sale of assets and liabilities 520 50

14,829 2,226

16. Expenses by nature  

Computer expenses 792,904 900,307
Depreciation and amortisation 480,271 477,169
Employee costs 19,543,613 18,871,923
Lease rentals on operating lease 1,179,117 1,154,440
Other expenses 5,567,509 5,136,512
Public relations 502,901 581,867
Total operating expenses 28,066,315 27,122,218

17. Finance income

Finance income earned on cash and cash equivalents 914,947 632,872

18. Finance costs

Interest payments for the finance lease liability - 2,154

2014

R

2013

R
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19. Taxation

The Ombudsman for the Short Term Insurance NPC is an association not for gain. In terms of Section 30 of the the Income Tax 
Act, the company is exempt from taxation.

20. Auditors’ remuneration    

Auditors remuneration - Internal 45,626 96,420
Auditors remuneration - External 190,000 174,900

235,626 271,320

21. Cash generated from operations

Surplus for the year 4,633,061 3,005,226
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 480,271 477,169
Profit on sale of assets (520) (50)
Interest received (914,947) (632,872)
Finance costs - 2,154
Decrease in post-retirement medical aid benefit obligation (13,252) (15,185)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 19,431 (67,121)
Transfers/write off of property, plant and equipment 4,957 -
Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables (1,248,780) (1,350,625)
Trade and other payables (1,123,072) 435,737
Deferred income (329,800) (1,585,100)

1,507,349 269,333

22. Commitments

Operating lease commitment

Operating lease commitment consists of leases of the offices building and office equipment. The new office rental contract will 
escalate at 9% on the lease anniversary and expire on 31 May 2019. 

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under operating lease are as follows:

Operating lease commitment Payable 

within one 

year  

R

Payable 

within two 

to five years 

R

Copiers, scanners and fax machine 125,362 -
Building 1,400,662 5,787,464

1,526,024 5,787,464

The equipment leases have a duration of 3 years with an option of renewal.

2014

R

2013

R
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2014

R

2013

R

23. Related parties

Directors fees paid      

Non-executive directors 332,878 253,800
Non-executive independent directors 142,310 293,775

475,188 547,575

24. Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes 
that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent 
obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

25. Events after the reporting period

The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year, which might have a material 
impact on the reported results.
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Detailed Income Statement

2014 2013
Notes R R

Revenue
Complaints income 31,844,100 29,884,000
Penalty fee income 969,800 791,000
Credit Notes adjustments (1,044,300) (1,180,500)

14 31,769,600 29,494,500
Other income
Other income 14,309 2,176
Finance income 17 914,947 632,872
Gains on disposal of assets 520 50

929,776 635,098

Expenses (28,066,315) (27,122,218)
Operating surplus 4,633,061 3,007,380
Finance costs 18 - (2,154)
Profit for the year 4,633,061 3,005,226

Operating expenses
Auditors remuneration - External 190,000 174,900
Auditors remuneration - Internal 20 45,626 96,420
Bank charges 23,054 23,928
Cleaning 6,200 5,400
Computer expenses 792,904 900,307
Consulting and professional fees 88,600 109,626
Depreciation and amortisation 480,271 477,169
Donations 5,000 5,000
Employee costs 19,543,613 18,871,923
Employee costs-pension fund contributions 2,296,349 2,133,456
Entertainment 21,189 28,094
Insurance 116,924 106,466
Lease rentals on operating lease 1,179,117 1,154,440
Legal expenses 133,111 15,154
Other expenses 996,138 779,604
Postage 15,684 19,512
Printing and stationery 649,163 577,978
Profit and loss on sale of assets 4,957 -
Public relations 502,901 581,867
Repairs and maintenance 30,863 33,401
Staff welfare 81,781 78,664
Telephone and fax 502,165 507,373
Travel-local 52,002 68,322
Travel-overseas - 51,258
Utilities 273,864 309,629
Workmens compensation 34,839 12,327

28,066,315 27,122,218
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Case Studies
1. Motor Warranty Policy

Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited

Details of complaint

The Insured had taken out an Intensive Care Plan under a 
Bosch Service and Maintenance policy for their motor vehicle 
and had submitted a claim to their insurer for damages to the 
vehicle’s clutch and brake discs.  The Bosch dealership was 
requested to report on the damages and advised that there 
was no major mechanical failure and that the components did 
not require replacement.  Bosch confirmed however that the 
clutch and brake discs had damages that were consistent with 
wear and tear, the clutch thrust was noisy and the bearing 
faceplates were loose.  The clutch and brake lining was worn 
down and had a remaining life span of twenty percent.

The insurer repudiated the claim and advised that the intention 
of the policy was to replace the damaged components 
only when the damages were to such an extent that they 
warranted replacement.  In this case, the insured’s vehicle 
was still in operating mode.  The policy provisions under the 

Intensive Care Plan were highlighted in the insured’s complaint, 
where it stated that “The Bosch Service Intensive Care Plan 

covers maintenance and repairs required through normal wear 

and tear or mechanical breakdown of parts including brakes, 

clutches, batteries etc.” and “The Plan covers up to 100% of 

all maintenance related repair costs depending on the age and 

mileage of the vehicle.  All maintenance related repairs and 

part replacements required through normal wear and tear and 

mechanical failure includes brakes, clutches, oil and water leaks, 

batteries etc.”   

It was apparent from the provisions in the policy wording that 
the insurer accepted liability for maintenance and repair costs 
due to the wear and tear of insured components. The insurer 
was invited to highlight a provision in the policy stipulating 
that maintenance, wear and tear are only covered when the 
component actually requires replacement or that it must be 
damaged to such an extent as to warrant replacement. The 
insurer could not do so.  While the clutch and break discs did 
not require replacement, they were serviceable. The costs of 
these repairs therefore fell within the ambit of the policy as 
referred to above. 
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Ombudsman’s Findings:

In the view of the Ombudsman, the insured had demonstrated 
that an event covered by the policy had occurred. The policy 
must be interpreted by determining the intention of the 
parties as expressed from the language used which, if clear, 
must be given effect to. Where the insurer wished to rely 
upon an exclusion or exception, the onus is on the insurer 
to establish this. It remains the insurer’s duty to make clear 
which particular risk it wishes to exclude. Since the insurer 
had not discharged this onus, it was advised to pay the claim 
and subsequently did so. 

2. Replacing Jewellery After a Loss

Santam Limited

Details of complaint

The insured submitted a claim to the insurer for the loss 
of jewellery.  The items of jewellery were specified and the 
insured followed the correct procedure in having the items 
valued as required by the policy.  During the validation of the 
claim the insurer obtained replacement quotes and elected 
to have the items of jewellery replaced by a jeweller of  
their choice.

The insured was dissatisfied with the insurer’s decision to 
replace the items of jewellery at a jeweller of their choice as 
the insured’s jeweller had designed the items and the insured 
had paid a design fee to his jeweller.  The insured requested 
the insurance company to either authorise his own jeweller 
to replace the items or pay him the amount quoted by his 
own jeweller.

The insurer advised that the items of jewellery were specified 
in terms of the All Risks section of the policy for a combined 
amount of R55 945. A quotation submitted by the insured for 
the replacement of the items by his own jeweller amounted 
to more than R70 000. The insurance company received a 
quotation from one of their own service providers for the 
replacement of the items for an amount of only R27 100 
and advised that should the complainant elect not to have 
the items replaced by this service provider, the insurer would 
settle the claim on a cash in lieu basis in the amount of  
R27 100. The insurer advised that in terms of the policy it may 
elect how to indemnify the insured and that the insurer was 
merely exercising its rights in term of the policy.

Ombudsman’s Findings:

The Ombudsman advised the insurer that although the 
insurer had the option to decide on how to indemnify the 
insured, the replacement of the items by the insurer’s service 
provider or cash settlement on the quotation provided by 
this service provider would not indemnify the insured, that is, 
would not place him in the position he was in before the loss.

The insured had the items of jewellery custom made, he had 
paid a design fee and the items were specified in the policy 
based on the value provided by the designing jeweller.

The Ombudsman advised the insurer that the claim should be 
settled based on either the sum insured or the insurer could 
take the opportunity of trying to negotiate a more favourable 
price with the complainant’s jeweller.

The insurer decided to negotiate with the insured’s jeweller 
and managed to obtain a more favourable replacement 
quotation on which the claim was then settled.

3.  Homeowner’s Policies Do Not Cover 
Maintenance to Properties

ABSA Insurance Company Limited

Details of complaint

In the application for assistance to the Ombudsman the 
insured stated that he had submitted several claims against 
his homeowner’s insurance policy for leaking pipes.  The 
insured stated that he had experienced leaking pipes almost 
immediately after moving into the property.  The insurer 
honoured these claims.  However when the last claim was 
submitted, the insurer informed the insured that they were 
placing an endorsement on the policy excluding any future 
damage caused by leaking pipes. The insured was dissatisfied 
with the endorsement as he felt that by paying a premium he 
should be covered accordingly.  

The insurer advised that the risk incepted in November 2012 
and since inception the insured had submitted three leaking 
pipes claims, all of which displayed certain similarities.  The 
insurer reviewed these claims and subsequently carried out 
an assessment of the property.  It was discovered that the 
copper pipes were pitted and that the condition of the pipes 
was poor and required urgent replacement.  The insurer 
informed the insured of the aforementioned and also placed 
an endorsement on the risk that no future damage caused 
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by leaking pipes would be covered. The insurer referred to 
the section of the policy agreement which dealt which water 
pipes wherein it stated that compensation would be for : 

•  “The repair or replacement of a section of a burst or leaking 

water pipe.  Failure of water pipes must have occurred 

suddenly and the failure point must be detected using 

conventional equipment and methods by an approved and 

qualified service provider.  

•  Concealed water pipes – failures that are due to rust, 

corrosion, gradual deterioration or wear and tear will be 

repaired on the first occasion only.  The policy will thereafter 

be endorsed to exclude water pipe failures from that water 

pipe which has evidence of rust and corrosion … until it has 

been repaired or replaced.”

Ombudsman’s Findings:

The intention of the contract terms was clear and unambiguous. 
The insurer did not intend covering damage cause by leaking 
pipes in instances where there was a maintenance related 
problem.  The insurer could provide sufficient evidence that 

the pipes at the property were pitted and in need of urgent 
replacement.  It was also clear that the insurer was entitled to 
place an endorsement on the policy. The insurer, in fact, was 
entitled to decline damage to all subsequent claims submitted 
by the insured for this type of damage. 

The insured contended that he should not be responsible for 
the replacement of the pipes as this property was bonded 
with ABSA Bank and he was not aware of the problem.  
The Ombudsman advised the insured that even though 
the property might have been assessed by the mortgagee, 
the assessment carried out was solely to establish that the 
property offered sufficient security to ABSA Bank.  It was not 
the responsibility of the insurer to assess and determine the 
structural integrity of the property as this fell squarely on the 
shoulders of the insured.  In addition, it would appear that the 
condition of the water pipes was pre-existing and thus the 
insurer was in any event not liable to pay for damage caused 
by the leaking water pipes. The rejection of the last claim as 
well as the placement of the endorsement on the policy was 
upheld by the Ombudsman.

CASE STUDIES

Traditional countryside farmhouse
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4.  Providing True and Complete 
Information: What is an  
unacceptable risk?

Dial Direct Insurance Limited

Details of complaint

The insured reported a claim to her insurer for damage to 
her motor vehicle as a result of an accident which occurred 
in July 2014. The insurer rejected the claim on the grounds 
that the insured failed to provide the insurer with true and 
complete information regarding a previous cancelled policy. 
If the insured had provided the insurer with the correct 
information, the insurer would not have accepted the risk.

The insured was not satisfied with the rejection of the claim 
as she stated that she had disclosed to the insurer that her 

previous insurer had cancelled her policy due to her having 
had a warrant of arrest issued as a result of an incident which 
occurred in a shopping mall. During the underwriting of the 
policy, the insured was asked what the warrant of arrest had 
been issued for and the insured stated that “There is something 

that happened in Cape Town when I was with my sister, she 

had something in her bag that she wanted to exchange, she 

didn’t have a slip so the security when we were coming out, they 

searched the bag and said they stole the….” The operator then 
interrupted and asked the insured whether it had anything to 
do with her car insurance. The insured again stated, “That’s 

why they say they cancelled. They sent me an email so that’s why 

I’m saying like…” The insurer advised that it was in fine, as 
they did not work that way and had to do with the insured’s 
sister and not with the insured.

Traditional Cape Dutch house, 
Western Cape



47

The insurer was of the view that the insured had a duty to 
disclose to the insurer the exact reason why the previous 
insurer had cancelled her policy. The insurer argued that 
a proper duty of disclosure had been created but that the 
insured had not disclosed the true facts with regard to the 
previous insurer’s reason for cancelling the policy. Had the 
insured disclosed the real reason for the previous insurer’s 
decision to cancel her policy, being that of an unacceptable 
risk, the insurer would also not have accepted the risk. 
The insurer’s policy wording stated that the insured has an 
obligation to give the insurer true and complete information 
or cover could be cancelled. The insurer relied on this specific 
condition to reject the claim and cancel the policy.

Ombudsman’s Findings:

The insured did in fact disclose to the insurer that her 
previous insurer had cancelled her policy. This was also the 
reason why she now had to seek insurance cover elsewhere. 
The explanation that the insured may have provided to the 
insured with regard to the reason why the warrant of arrest 
had been issued may not have been very clear and, although 
the information had been presented to the insurer, they did 
not ask more questions with regards to why a warrant of 
arrest had been issued. Furthermore, the insured did disclose 
that her previous insurer cancelled her policy. The insured 
did not need to say to the insurer that her previous insurer 
cancelled her policy due to her being an unacceptable risk as 
the insured was not familiar with terminology used by insurers. 
It was sufficient that she did disclose that the previous insurer 
cancelled her policy due to a warrant of arrest being issued 
even though the warrant of arrest itself had nothing to do 
with insurance. 

The insurer was therefore requested to settle the claim in full, 
which the insurer agreed to do.

5. Driving Over the Legal Alcohol Limit

Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited

Details of complaint

The insured was involved in a motor vehicle accident on 
the 25th May 2013 and the police attended the scene. After 
conducting breathalyser tests and obtaining readings of 
0.61% and 0. 00% for the third party and the insured driver 
respectively, the police proceeded to conduct further blood 
tests. The collision had apparently occurred at an intersection 
where the third party was alleged to have ignored a stop sign. 

During the validation of the claim, the insurer had discovered 
that there was a pending criminal matter for driving under 
the influence of alcohol against the insured driver. The insurer 
then decided not to honour the insured’s claim until the 
blood results were available and this was communicated to 
the insured on 12 August 2013. According to the insurer, the 
insured had to carry the costs relating to the loss until the 
criminal matter had been finalized and the insurer would at 
that stage then pay out the claim, if the outcome so dictated. 
The matter was referred to the Ombudsman in January 2014 
when the blood test results had not yet been received.

During the investigation of the matter by the Ombudsman, 
the insurer was required to show that there was a reasonable 
basis for them to await the blood results. The insurer had not 
alleged or substantiated any facts or circumstances which 
suggested that the insured had been driving while under  
the influence.

In response the insurer pointed out that the insured had not 
only undergone blood tests but had actually been charged. 
The criminal matter was pending the availability of the blood 
alcohol test results. Amongst the insurer’s own submissions 
was a statement by the police officer who attended the scene.
This statement reflected that the officer had felt compelled 
to conduct the breathalyser and the blood alcohol tests as 
the drivers were accusing each other of driving under the 
influence, whilst each one had also declared themselves to be 
sober. He had then arrested and charged both drivers.

The insurer had also submitted that the criminal docket had 
since gone missing and insinuated that the insured may have 
been involved without any substantiation.

Ombudsman’s Findings:

The insurer was held to have failed to prove that there was a 
reasonable basis to await the blood results before attending 
to the claim. Apart from the fact that the tests had been 
conducted on both drivers, there was no proof that the 
insured driver had been under the influence, on a balance 
of probabilities. The statement given by the police officer had 
explained why he had conducted the tests but that he did 
not appear to have any suspicions that the insured driver had 
been under the influence.

It was pointed out to the insurer that they had had the 
opportunity over the period of almost a year to investigate 
the matter and to establish if there was a reasonable basis to 
insist on awaiting the blood results, but had failed to do this.

CASE STUDIES
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The delays in the criminal matter, which also did not appear 
to have any reasonable prospects of success, should have 
made the insurer consider obtaining their own independent 
evidence on which to rely in rejecting the claim. Awaiting 
the blood results was not only unreasonable under the 
circumstances but also resulted in the unfair treatment of  
the insured.

It was accordingly the Ombudsman’s view that the insurer 
should pay the claim. As a measure to protect the insurer in 
the unlikely event that the insured was eventually found to 
have had blood alcohol exceeding the legal limit, the insurer 
was entitled to stipulate a proviso that they would be entitled 
to recover the claim costs.

6. Applying Average

Zurich Insurance Company Limited

Details of complaint

The insured submitted a complaint against their insurer in 
respect of burglaries which occurred on the 22nd of July 
2013 and the 25th of July 2013. The insurer rejected the claim 
for an old church outbuilding, which was converted into an 
entertainment area, on the basis of non-compliance with the 
security requirements. The claim for another outbuilding which 
contained the insured’s tools was only partially accepted as the 
insurer applied average when making an offer of settlement.  
The insurer quoted the policy wording in respect of the sum 
insured which stated:

•  “Make sure your sum insured is adequate means when you 

are underinsured you can be exposed to serious financial 

loss if a claim occurs. Make sure your home , contents and 

the motor vehicles are insured for replacement value and it is 

your responsibility to decide on the value of the sum insured 

and ensure that the sum insured is adequate” 

Furthermore the insurer referred to the policy wording  when 
the sum insured is not enough:

•  “If the home or content value immediately before the date 

of loss is more than the sum insured, the amount we pay will 

be reduced in the same proportion as the under insurance. 

This is known as average”

The insured argued that at the inception of the policy a R55 
survey fee was levied and that an Asset Inventory Survey had 
to be conducted by the insurer’s service provider within 30 
days from the inception of the policy but that the survey was 
never done.

The insurer confirmed that a levy of R55 was paid by 
the insured but that the valuation was only conducted 
subsequent to the loss. The policy wording in respect of the 
Asset Inventory Valuation stipulated that “As a requirement 

of this policy, contents cover will only be in force once an Asset 

Inventory Survey has been completed. An asset inventory has to 

be concluded within 30 days from the inception of the policy.  The 

asset inventory valuation document, once accepted and signed off 

by you will from part of your schedule.”

In respect of the rejection on the basis of non-compliance with 
the security requirements, the insurer advised that cover was 
provided subject to the information provided by the insured, 
namely that all opening windows were burglar barred and all 
doors protected by security gates. During the validation of 
the claim it was established that the outbuilding that had been 
converted into an entertainment area did not have burglar 
bars and had no security gate at the door.

Ombudsman’s Findings:

In respect of the rejection of the claim relating to the outbuilding 
which did not comply with the security requirements, the 
insured was advised that the insurer could not be faulted.

However, in respect of the application of average in respect 
of the other building, it was pointed out to the insurer that by 
making the insured pay the survey fee for the valuation, they 
had created the expectation that they would have conducted 
the valuation timeously. Further, by doing so, the insurer had 
shifted the responsibility of ensuring that there was adequate 
cover from the insured to the insurer. The insurer was 
reminded that as the asset valuation inventory was supposed 
to have been conducted within 30 days from the inception of 
the policy and not at claim’s stage, the insurer could not now 
apply average. The insurer was advised to revise their offer in 
respect of the second claim, which they duly did.

7.  The Sale and Inception of An Insurance 
Policy

OUTsurance Insurance Company Limited 

Details of complaint

The complainant lodged a complaint with the Ombudsman 
after the insurer refused to refund the premium on a 
policy which, according to the complainant, should never 
have incepted.  Voice recordings of the sale of the policy 
confirmed that the insurer initially contacted the complainant 
in order to provide a quote for insurance. At the end of the 
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conversation, the sales consultant of the insurer confirmed 
dates on which the policy would incept and on which the 
premium would be debited from the complainant’s account. 
The complainant agreed to the commencement of the policy 
but set, as a condition for cover to incept, that he confirm 
it telephonically at a later date, before the inception of the 
new policy. The complainant was in two minds regarding the 
policy and decided not to take the policy up at that time. He 
however did not contact the insurer to confirm acceptance 
of the policy. Notwithstanding the complainant’s condition 
not being met, the first premium was debited from the  
complainant’s account.

The complainant contacted the insurer after noticing the 
debit of premium from his account and requested a refund of 
premium as he had not confirmed acceptance of the policy 
as indicated during the initial quote. The insurer refunded the 
premium and moved the date of inception of the policy to an 
alternative future date. The complainant agreed to the date 
but again set as a condition for the cover to incept that the 
insurer this time contact him telephonically to remind him of 
the inception date, at which time he would consider whether 
or not to proceed with the policy. The sales consultant of 
the insurer advised that it was not possible to meet the 
condition as he may not be at work on the particular day but 
offered, as an alternative, that a text message be sent to the 
complainant’s mobile phone confirming the inception date of 
the policy. The complainant agreed to this. On a date before 
the policy was due to incept, various text messages were 
forwarded to the complainant requesting confirmation of the 
complainant’s email address, requesting the complainant to 
take his vehicles for inspection and requesting the complainant 
to contact the insurer in order to “finalise the details” on his 
facility. The complainant again decided not to take the policy 
up and did not contact the insurer. The policy incepted and 
premium was debited from the complainant’s account for 
approximately one year before the complainant noticed the 
debits from his account. The complainant again contacted the 
insurer and indicated that he never provided confirmation 
for the inception of the policy and requested a refund of 
all premiums. The insurer refused his request providing as a 
reason the fact that the complainant was at all relevant times 
aware of the inception date of the policy.

Ombudsman’s Findings:

Of all the terms that have to be agreed to between an insured 
and an insurer, the inception and the date of inception of 
the proposed policy are probably the most important ones. 
Acceptance of the proposed policy must be clearly provided 

by the prospective policyholder by way of a signature on a 
proposal or clear verbal acknowledgement during a recorded 
conversation. Agreement must never be assumed and if the 
acceptance of the proposal is conditionally provided by the 
prospective policyholder, then agreement cannot be reached 
before the conditions set by the prospective policyholder are 
met. If the conditions set by either of the contracting parties 
are not met, it cannot be said that there was a meeting of 
minds which will then render the contract voidable.

The Ombudsman’s view was that the text messages 
forwarded to the complainant’s mobile phone did not meet 
the condition set by the complainant for the inception of the 
policy as none of the messages stipulated a date of inception 
or confirmation that the policy was about to incept. In fact, 
it was found that the messages were misleading in that it 
appeared that further information was required from the 
complainant before the policy could incept. The complainant 
therefore believed that the policy would not incept in the 
event that he did not provide the information requested by 
the insurer. 

The insurer countered this by indicating that the complainant 
knew of the inception date of the policy and therefore knew 
that a policy was in place. On this basis he was not entitled to 
a refund of premium.

It was demonstrated to the insurer that the vehicles that were 
to be insured were not taken for pre-inception inspections 
which indicated that the complainant did not wish to be 
insured in terms of the proposed policy and was most 
likely not aware of the inception of the policy. Under the 
circumstances it would also not be fair to retain the premium, 
as the complainant did not have cover for the vehicles in any 
event.  The Ombudsman advised the insurer to refund the 
premium to the complainant, which they duly did. 

8.  The Vehicle is Declared Uneconomical 
to Repair but The Insured Does Not 
Agree

Budget Insurance Company Limited

Details of complaint

The insured reported a claim to the insurer for a motor 
vehicle accident which occurred on 15 November 2013. 
The insured lost control of his vehicle and collided into 
a barrier on the side of the road. The insurer declared the 
vehicle as a “write off ” and the insured was unhappy with the  
insurer’s decision.  

CASE STUDIES
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The insurer confirmed that it used the insurance industry 
guideline when deciding to write off a vehicle, which was the 
write off threshold of 60-70% of the value of the vehicle. The 
cost of repairs to the insured vehicle amounted to R58 442, 
which represented 64% of the insured vehicle’s value. The 
insurer maintained that the insured’s vehicle was a write off.

The insured obtained his own assessment report from an 
assessing company wherein the repair costs amounted to  
R64 172 and the agreed cost of repairs amounted to R54 
633. As per the report received from the assessing company 
the retail value of the insured vehicle amounted to R92 100.
The insurer established that these cost of repairs amounted 
to 69.67% of the value of the vehicle. According to the insurer 
it still warranted that the insured’s vehicle be written off.      

The insured advised that the agreed costs of repairs amounted 
to R54 633 which was less than 60% of the value of the 
insured vehicle. Therefore it did not warrant that the insured 
vehicle to be written off. The insurer was of the view that the 
report from the assessing company indicated that the actual 
repairs amounted to R64 172 and the amount of R54 633 
was the agreed amount that the repairer had agreed with the 
insured. The insurer maintained that the fact remained that 
the actual repair amount for the insured vehicle was R64 712 
which still warranted that the insured’s vehicle be written off.     

Ombudsman’s Findings:

The Ombudsman, after reviewing all the facts, pointed out to 
the insurer that the insured must be involved in the process 
where the insured vehicle is to be declared a write off.  The 
Ombudsman agreed that the insured’s vehicle should not be 
written off since the insured had obtained a quotation that 
was less than 60% of the value of the insured vehicle. The 
insurer was requested to pay the agreed cost of repairs as 
per the report from the assessing company, less the applicable 
excess, in full and final settlement of the insured’s claim. The 
insurer furnished the insured with a cash in lieu indemnity 
form to sign, which clearly stated that the insurer would not 
be liable for any unseen damages. The insured signed and 
accepted the settlement offer. 

9. What Are One’s Prospects of Success?

Constantia Insurance Company Limited

Details of complaint

The insured submitted a complaint against Constantia 
Insurance Company in respect of a claim for legal expenses. In 
his details of complaint, the insured advised that:

“On the 07 December 2009, I was involved in an accident.  I was 

referred to Panelbeaters by ABSA.  Instead of repairing they stole 

spares from my car to repair another car.  I subsequently lodged 

a complaint with the Ombudsman and won the award.  I took the 

car to AA as per the award and was vindicated.  I paid R1980.00 

for the inspection and ABSA refused to refund me.  I then referred 

the matter to my insurance for help and they refused.  I availed all 

documents to them including my proposed lawsuit.  To date I have 

spent R9997.54 trying to fight ABSA on my own despite having 

insurance.  The breakdown is as follows: R1400.00 – Consultation 

Fee, R1980.00 – AA inspection, R2000.00 – Consultation fee and 

R4617.54 – Attorneys fees. I am unable to afford the legal fees 

hence the referral of the matter to you.”

In their first response, the Insurer advised that their file 
was closed as the insured had failed to provide them with 
the requested legal/merits opinion confirming that he had 
reasonable prospects of success in his claim against ABSA.  The 
insurer advised that upon receipt of the insured’s letter dated 
24.11.2010, wherein he requested assistance in pursuing his 
claim against ABSA, the matter was referred to their claims 
forum.  Further, the insured was advised both telephonically 
and in writing on 08.12.2010 and 17.01.2011 that the insurer 
required the legal/merits opinion in order to reconsider their 
decision in this matter.  In this regard the insurer relied on 
the policy wording on Information Required and Our Rights 
which stipulated: 

• “You will at your own expense and at all times:

 –  provide us with all the information and evidence in your 

possession that we may require.

 –  produce and/or execute all documents reasonably 

requested by us.

 –  We will not be liable for any costs and expenses where 

you fail to provide us with the above or proper instructions 

in due time for us to act thereon.”
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The policy wording on Prospects of Success stipulated:

“If we decide that:

• Your prospects of success in the Proceedings are weak, or

• There is no reasonable prospect of success, or

• Your interests can be better served by other means

The following conditions and procedures shall apply:

We will advise you, in writing, within 7 (seven days) of this decision 

and the reasons for the decision.  We will then not be liable for 

any further legal costs and expenses relating to the Proceedings.”

The insurer also addressed a further letter to the insured on 
25.01.2012 once again requesting the legal/merit opinion.

The insured was referred to a letter, attached to his application 
for assistance, from his attorney, addressed to ABSA on  

02 August 2011 setting out the details of his claim.  It 
was pointed out to the insured that this letter was sent 
approximately 8 months after the insured had received the 
above-mentioned correspondence from the insurer.  Further, 
it was noted that the attorney had addressed correspondence 
to the insured on 26.01.2012 confirming an appointment with 
an Advocate with a view to obtaining an opinion in respect of 
the ABSA matter.  However, from the file contents and as per 
the insurer’s correspondence to the Ombudsman, it would 
appear that no merit or legal opinion was provided to the 
insurer confirming that the insured had reasonable prospects 
of success in his claim against ABSA.  In this regard the policy 
wording further provided that:

“Claims Payment

•  We will only be obliged to make payment at the conclusion 

of any matter giving rise to a Claim.”

CASE STUDIES
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Ombudsman’s Findings:

The insured was advised that the Ombudsman was in 
agreement with the insurer in that their file was correctly 
closed due to his failure to timeously provide them with a 
merit/legal opinion confirming that he enjoyed reasonable 
prospects of success in his claim against ABSA.  

The insured was also advised that the Ombudsman was in 
agreement with the insurer in that they could not be held 
liable for any legal and/ or other costs that he had incurred 
in pursuing his claim against ABSA as the policy wording, as 
set out above, was clear in that the insurer was not liable for 
any costs incurred after he had been notified that the insurer 
was of the view that he did not enjoy reasonable prospects of 
success against ABSA.  

10. Basic Excess and Additional Excess

Oakhurst Insurance Company Limited

Details of complaint

The insured approached the Ombudsman’s Office disputing 
the application of the basic excess by his insurer in respect of 
a claim submitted by him when his vehicle was rear ended 
by a third party whilst stationary. The insured argued that he 
was exempted from paying excesses as a paragraph in the 
policy schedule stated: “we will never apply the above additional 

excesses when your vehicle is rear ended by another vehicle’’.

The Ombudsman in considering the matter perused the 
schedule of insurance and noted that according to the 
schedule, which had been submitted by the insured with his 
details of complaint, there were two classes of excess which 
could be applied in the event of a claim.

The first section of the excess structure explained the basic 
excess applicable to the insured’s 2013 Volkswagen Polo Vivo 
1.4.  According to the schedule, for own damage, the excess 
was 5% of the claim with a minimum of R2 500, for theft and 
hijack it was 7.5% of the claim with a minimum of R3 500, for 
total loss or when the vehicle has been written off, the basic 
excess would be 15% of the claim with a minimum of R3 000.  
It also appeared that there was a voluntary basic excess of 
R6 000 which would be payable in the event of every claim.  

The second section listed all the additional excesses which 
would be payable in the event of a claim in addition to the 
basic excess. The words relied on by the insured appeared 
below the section detailing the additional excesses.

Ombudsman’s Findings:

The Ombudsman explained to the insured that the basic 
excess was the first amount payable by him in the event of 
every claim and further that according to his schedule he 
had also accepted a voluntary excess. This meant that every 
time the insured submitted a claim the basic excess and the 
voluntary excess would automatically apply. It was also clear 
that he was only exempted from paying the other additional 
excess that may have been applicable had his vehicle been 
rear ended by another. The Ombudsman was satisfied that 
the insurer had applied the terms and conditions of the policy 
correctly. The file was closed in favour of the insurer and the 
insured advised accordingly.

11. How Far Can Disclosure be Stretched?

New National Assurance Company Limited

Details of complaint

The Ombudsman’s Office was approached by the insured for 
assistance with regards to a claim which has been repudiated 
by his insurer due to material misrepresentation and non-
disclosure at inception. The claim related to a burglary which 
occurred at the insured’s premises whilst he and his family 
were asleep. Persons unknown to him managed to climb up 
to the first floor bathroom window and entered the house. 
Various items of household contents were stolen. The claim 
was lodged with the insurer and after investigation they 
repudiated the claim due to the fact that during inception of 
the policy, certain information with regard to the property 
and the surrounding premises were not disclosed to them in 
the proposal form. 

The insured confirmed that he had informed the insurer at 
quote stage and also on the proposal form that there were 
burglar bars and security gates on the ground floor but that 
the first floor did not have burglar bars but just security gates. 
According to the insurer’s requirement all contents over the 
amount of R300 000 must have a linked alarm with armed 
response. The insured however contended that there was no 
burglar alarm endorsement on his policy. 

The insurer advised that the claim was repudiated due to the 
fact that the insured stated on his proposal form that he did not 
have a vacant stand next to his property. Upon investigation it 
was confirmed that the insured in fact did have a vacant stand 
on one side of his property. The insured further confirmed on 
the proposal form that no new buildings were being built in 
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his immediate neighbourhood and upon investigation it was 
confirmed that an abandoned building under construction at 
the time of completing the proposal form was situated on 
the other side of the insured’s property. The insurer therefore, 
in accordance with the policy wording, advised that in terms 
of their general terms and conditions they could decline to 
indemnify or compensate for any loss, if the risk is in any way 
materially increased without their consent or in the event of 
any material misdirection, misrepresentation, omission or non-
disclosure. Further to the above, the insurer also advised that 
the insured was himself a short-term insurance broker and 
because of that he had an in-depth knowledge of this industry 
and he was well aware of the importance of providing all 
material facts at inception of a policy contract. The insurer 
further advised that had they been aware of the vacant stand 
and the building under construction at the time of issuing the 
policy they would have insisted that all opening windows be 
barred over and above the armed response burglar alarm. The 
insurer advised that they would however agree to settle the 
items stolen under the all-risk section of the policy.

Ombudsman’s Findings:

After consideration of all the information, the Ombudsman 
advised the insured that his policy wording as well as his 
schedule and all conversations which he had with the insurer 
in this matter should be seen as one document which is a 
legally binding contract between both parties, based on good 
faith.

On consideration of all the information the Ombudsman 
advised that he could not fault the repudiation of this claim.

The misrepresentation was a negative misrepresentation 
which arises when an insured fails to disclose, prior to the 
inception of the policy, material facts within his knowledge, 
as a result of which the insurer is induced to enter into the 
contract or to agree to specific terms in it, whereas it would 
not have done so had those facts been disclosed. 

The insurer indicated that had they been aware of this 
information they would have added further security 
requirements to the policy.  The insured was referred to 
Section 53 of the Short-Term Insurance Act that provides that 
the misrepresentation or non-disclosure shall be regarded as 
material if a reasonable prudent person would consider that 
the particular information constituting the representation or 
which was not disclosed, as the case may be, was information 
that should have been disclosed to the insurer, so that the 
insurer could form its own view as to the effect of such 
information on the assessment of the risk.

The Courts have also interpreted disclosure and advised that 
in instances where proposal forms are used, the insurers seek 
to obtain information relevant to the risk by posing a series 
of questions to be answered by the proposer. The effect of 
these questions may be to limit the duty of disclosure to 
information which will adequately answer the questions 
posed. However, this will depend on the facts of the case. The 
insured was advised by the Ombudsman that he upheld the 
decision made by the insurer. 

CASE STUDIES
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TERMS OF REFERENCE

1. Preamble

1.1  The Ombudsman is appointed to serve the interest of 
the insuring public and all short-term Insurers registered 
under the Short-term Insurance Act and including Lloyds.  
The Ombudsman provides, free of charge, an accessible, 
informal and speedy dispute resolution process to Policy 
Holders who have disputes with their Insurers where 
those disputes fall within the Ombudsman’s jurisdiction.

1.2  The Ombudsman acts independently and objectively 
in resolving disputes and is not under instructions from 
anybody when exercising his or her authority.  The 
Ombudsman resolves disputes using the criteria of law, 
equity and fairness.  These Terms of Reference define the 
powers and duties of the Ombudsman.

1.3  The services rendered by the Ombudsman are not the 
same as those rendered by a professional legal advisor 
and are confined purely to resolution in terms of clause 
3.1 below or mediation or conciliation in an attempt to 
settle complaints.

2. Definitions

In these terms of reference the following expressions have the 
following meanings:

2.1  “the Board” means the Board of Directors of the 
Ombudsman for Short-term Insurance NPC ;

2.2  “Commercial Lines Policy” means a policy (a) issued to 
a person who is not a natural person, or (b) if issued to 
a natural person is intended to indemnify such a natural 
person in respect of a commercial enterprise conducted 
by the natural person for his or her own benefit.

2.3  “the Complainant” means any Policy Holder who makes a 
complaint to the Ombudsman in respect of any insurance 
services provided by their Insurer ;

2.4  “Ruling” means, with respect to a complaint, a written 
directive issued by the Ombudsman which is binding on 
the Insurer and which is based either in law or equity;
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2.5  “the Ombudsman” means the Ombudsman for Short-
term Insurance appointed from time to time by the Board 
of the Ombudsman for Short-term Insurance NPC ;

2.6  “Ombudsman’s office” means the office of the 
Ombudsman established to perform the functions set out 
in these terms of reference;

2.7  “Policy” means a short term insurance Policy issued by an 
Insurer to a Policy Holder;

2.8  “Policy Holder” means the person entitled to be provided 
with the Policy benefits under a Policy;

2.9  “Insurer” means a short-term insurer registered as such in 
terms of the Short-term Insurance Act of 1998;

3. The Ombudsman’s Powers and Duties

3.1 The Ombudsman shall:

 3.1.1  act within these terms of reference;

 3.1.2  receive complaints relating to the provision within 
the Republic of South Africa of insurance services 
by an Insurer to a Policy Holder;

 3.1.3  resolve such complaints, relating to the provision of 
insurance services, by agreement or by the making 
of a ruling or by such other means as may seem 
expedient, subject to these terms of reference.

3.2  The Ombudsman should advise the public on the 
procedure for making a complaint to the Ombudsman’s 
office and should take such steps as are reasonably 
possible conducive to client and industry education and 
training.  The Ombudsman shall in his annual report 
referred to in clause 3.9 below provide details of steps 
taken in this regard.

3.3  On receipt of a complaint in the prescribed format, the 
Ombudsman will notify the Insurer of the complaint 
by providing the details of the complaint to the 
Insurer, and the Insurer shall then be obliged to give all 
relevant information and assistance required (including 
documentation requested by the Ombudsman) to 
enable the Ombudsman to assess fully the merits of the 
complaint.

3.4  During any period in which the Ombudsman is unable to 
exercise his duties owing to absence, incapacity or death 
or in a situation where a conflict of interest may arise, the 

Board may appoint a deputy or acting Ombudsman to act 
in place of the Ombudsman.

3.5  The Ombudsman shall have the overall responsibility 
for the conduct of the day to day administration and 
business of the Ombudsman’s office.  The Ombudsman 
may appoint an Administrator to be responsible to 
him for day to day matters of administration of the  
Ombudsman’s office.

3.6  The Ombudsman shall have the power on behalf of the 
Ombudsman’s office to appoint and dismiss employees, 
consultants, legal experts, independent contractors and 
agents and to determine their salaries, fees, terms of 
employment or engagement.

3.7  The Ombudsman shall have the power to incur 
expenditure on behalf of the Ombudsman’s office in 
accordance with the current financial budget approved 
by the Board.

3.8  The Ombudsman shall give the Board any information 
and assistance which it reasonably requires, including 
the making of recommendations to the Board on any 
issues which the Ombudsman believes requires the  
Board’s attention.

3.9  The Ombudsman shall publish an annual report on the 
activities of the office, which shall be published by 30 May 
of each year.  Such report will be available to the public.

4. The Jurisdiction of the Ombudsman

4.1  The Ombudsman shall only consider a complaint made 
to him if he is satisfied that:

 4.1.1  the complaint is not the subject of existing litigation; 

 4.1.2  the complaint is not the subject of an instruction 
to an attorney in contemplation of litigation against 
the relevant Insurer except where the attorney has 
simply assisted the Policy Holder in bringing the 
application to the Ombudsman;

 4.1.3  the complaint does not involve a monetary claim 
in excess of the amount determined by the 
Board from time to time and that in respect of 
Commercial Lines Policies the annual turnover of 
the Complainant does not exceed the amount 
determined by the Board from time to time. *
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*The limits are currently as follows namely, (a) R4 million for 

house owner’s claims; (b) R2 million for all other claims provided 

that (c) in respect of Commercial lines policies, the turnover of the 

insured entity must not exceed R25 million per annum

 4.1.4  the complaint is made by a Policy Holder or a 
duly authorised representative of the Policy Holder 
to whom or for whom the insurance services in 
question were provided;

 4.1.5  the complaint relates to any dispute in regard to 
a Policy and/or any Claim or Claims thereunder 
or any dispute in regard to insurance premiums, 
or any dispute on the legal construction of the 
Policy wording relating to a particular complaint 
complying with the requirements of this clause 4.1;

 4.1.6  the complaint is being pursued reasonably by the 
Complainant and not in a frivolous, vexatious, 
offensive, threatening or abusive manner, as 
the Ombudsman may decide in his or her  
sole discretion;

 4.1.7  the complaint has not become prescribed in terms 
of the Prescription Act, 1969 or any enforceable 
time bar provisions contained in the Policy, 
provided that in relation to any enforceable time-
bar provisions in the policy 

   4.1.7.1  the Ombudsman shall have the power to 
condone non-compliance therewith upon 
good cause shown, and

   4.1.7.2  the provisions of any enactment which 
provides for the extension of any period 
contained in such time-bar provision shall 
be given effect to.

4.2  Should a complaint be lodged with the Ombudsman’s 
office and thereafter the Complainant refers such dispute 
to an attorney for the further conduct of the dispute and/
or direct correspondence with the Insurer, or for litigation, 
then the Ombudsman will immediately withdraw from 
the matter.

4.3  With the written consent of an Insurer and at his discretion 
the Ombudsman may investigate a complaint which 
exceeds his jurisdiction and make a recommendation or a 
Ruling in relation thereto.

4.4  A Complainant may at any time terminate the 
Ombudsman’s adjudication of the complaint and resort 
to litigation.

5.  Limits on the Jurisdiction of the 
Ombudsman

Subject to these terms of reference, the Ombudsman shall 
have the power to consider a complaint made to him and 
make a recommendation or Ruling in regard thereto except:

5.1  Where the Ombudsman determines that it is more 
appropriate that the complaint be dealt with by a court 
of law or through any other dispute resolution process;

5.2  Where the matter is already under the consideration by 
the person appointed to adjudicate disputes in terms of 
the Financial Advisory and Intermediary Services Act.

6. Time Barring Provisions

6.1  Any enforceable time bar clauses in terms of a Policy 
shall not run against a Complainant and shall be 
interrupted during the period that the complaint is under 
consideration before the Ombudsman.  In particular, the 
Insurer waives and abandons all or any rights to rely in 
subsequent litigation on any time barring provisions in the 
Policy applying to the commencement of litigation after 
rejection of a claim, or after the happening forming the 
subject of the claim or after notification of the claim.  In 
the event of the complaint being finalised in the office of 
the Ombudsman the Complainant shall have 30 (thirty) 
days or the remaining period of the time bar provision 
of the relevant policy, whichever is the longer, within 
which to institute proceedings against the relevant Insurer, 
provided however, that the Claim had not already become 
time barred in terms of the Policy when the complaint 
was received by the Ombudsman and the Ombudsman 
has not condoned the late receipt of the complaint as is 
envisaged in clause 4.1.7

6.2  For the purposes of clause 6.1, the time during which 
a matter is before the Ombudsman shall (provided that 
the complaint is accepted for adjudication) commence on 
the day that it is lodged with the Ombudsman’s office to 
the time that the Ombudsman dismisses the complaint or 
makes a Ruling.  
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6.3  Save as may be otherwise provided in the Financial Services 
Ombud Schemes Act 37 of 2004 as amended or in any 
other legislation relating to or governing the Ombudsman, 
the lodging of any complaint with the Ombudsman shall 
in no way affect the running of prescription in terms of 
the Prescription Act, 1969 in respect of such complaint.

7. Rulings

7.1 When all the material facts are agreed or the facts have 
been established to the Ombudsman’s satisfaction on a 
balance of probabilities, the Ombudsman may make a Ruling.

7.2 Rulings shall be based on the law and equity.

7.3  Where a material fact cannot be established or cannot 
be resolved on a clear balance of probabilities the 
Ombudsman may not make a Ruling.  In such cases 
the Ombudsman shall advise the Complainant that 
the complaint is not one on which he or she can assist 
and that alternative recourse may be sought through  
the courts.

7.4  Any Ruling made by the Ombudsman shall be binding on 
the Insurer concerned save where an appeal against such 
Ruling is noted as is provided in Clause 8 below.

8.  Right of Appeal against Rulings or 
Findings of the Ombudsman

8.1  Any party affected by any formal ruling or finding on 
the part of the Ombudsman may appeal against the 
ruling or finding of the Ombudsman, either in part or in 
whole.  In this context a “Ruling” shall mean, in relation to 
a complaint received, “a written directive issued by the 
Ombudsman which is binding on the insurer and which is 
based either in law or equity and fairness or a combination 
of law and equity”.  “Finding” shall mean, with respect to a 
complaint, “a written directive issued by the Ombudsman 
in relation to the complaint received in terms of which 
the Ombudsman has dismissed the complaint or declined 
to intervene in a dispute between the complainant  
and insurer”.

8.2  No appeal against the ruling or finding of the Ombudsman 
shall be considered by any Appeal Tribunal, unless the 
Ombudsman shall have granted the applicant leave to 
appeal against such ruling or finding.

8.3  The Ombudsman shall only grant leave to appeal to any 
appellant where he is of the opinion that:

Xhosa hut in Transkei
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 8.3.1   There is a reasonable prospect that the appeal, 
either in whole or in part, if prosecuted, will 
succeed; and

 8.3.2  The matter is one of complexity or difficulty; or

 8.3.3  The ruling or finding in question involves issues 
or considerations which are of substantial public 
or industry interest or importance or It is in the 
interest of justice or public policy that the ruling or 
decision be considered by an Appeal Tribunal; or

 8.3.4  The ruling or decision involves principles of law 
where the law may be considered to be uncertain 
or unsettled; or

 8.3.5  The matter in dispute involves the jurisdiction of 
the Ombudsman to entertain the dispute; or

 8.3.6  The issues are of such a nature that the judgment 
or order sought by the appellant will not be of 
academic relevance only and will have a practical 
effect or result.

8.4  The power to grant leave to appeal as contemplated in 
this section shall not be limited by reason only of the 
value of the matter in dispute, or the amount claimed or 
awarded by the Ombudsman, or by reason only of the 
fact that the matter in dispute is incapable of being valued 
in money.

8.5  Notice of any intention to appeal against any ruling 
or finding of the Ombudsman shall be filed with the 
Ombudsman within a period of 30 calendar days of the 
handing down of any ruling or finding and shall state 
whether the appellant appeals against the whole or part 
of the ruling or finding of the Ombudsman, the findings of 
fact and/or ruling of law appealed against and the grounds 
upon which the appeal is founded.  The notice of intention 
to appeal shall be accompanied by an application for leave 
to appeal.  

8.6  A Notice of Cross-Appeal shall be delivered within  15 
calendar days after delivery of the Notice of Appeal, or 
within such other period of time as may, upon good cause 
shown, be permitted by the Ombudsman.  The provisions 
of these rules with regard to appeals shall equally apply to 
cross-appeals.  A “cross-appeal” shall mean a process by 
which the respondent in any appeal proceedings, having 
been advised by the Ombudsman of receipt of a notice 
of intention to appeal, wishes in turn to appeal against the 

terms of the ruling or finding made by the Ombudsman in 
relation to the complaint submitted to the Ombudsman.

8.7  Where an appeal has been noted, or an application 
for leave to appeal has been made, the operation and 
execution of the ruling or finding of the Ombudsman shall 
be suspended, pending the decision of the Appeal Tribunal 
on the matter, unless the Ombudsman, on the application 
of a party and on good cause shown, otherwise directs.

8.8  Upon receipt of a Notice of Appeal the Ombudsman 
shall within a period of 5 business days thereafter notify 
every other party to the dispute that a Notice of Appeal 
has been received.

8.9  All documentation in connection with any appeal 
proceedings including the notice of intention to appeal and 
the application for leave to appeal, shall be served upon 
the office of the Ombudsman by hand or alternatively 
by way of registered post or by e-mail save where the 
Ombudsman shall have expressly consented to any other 
method of service.  Documentation served upon the 
Ombudsman shall be in A4 format and shall be clearly 
legible and capable of being photocopied.  Wherever 
possible, original documents should form the subject of 
any appeal proceedings but copies of documents shall 
be acceptable subject to the provisions of these terms  
of reference.

Applications for Leave to Appeal

8.10  Any party who desires to appeal against any ruling or 
finding of the Ombudsman shall, within  30 calendar 
days of  the handing down by the Ombudsman of any 
final ruling or finding, serve upon the Ombudsman as 
provided for herein, a Notice of intention to Appeal, 
together with an Application for Leave to Appeal 
which shall set out the basis for the proposed appeal 
as contemplated in Clause 8.5 above, together with 
reasons why Leave to Appeal against such ruling or 
finding should be granted by the Ombudsman.  The 
granting of leave to appeal shall be a pre-requisite for 
the prosecution of any appeal.

8.11  Failing receipt by the Ombudsman of any Notice of 
Appeal within the time period referred to in paragraph 
8 above, the final ruling or finding by the Ombudsman 
shall become final and binding upon the parties and 
shall be carried into effect without further delay.
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8.12  Any late filing of a Notice of Appeal or an Application 
for Leave to Appeal shall be null and void save where 
accompanied by an application for condonation for the 
late filing of the appeal.  Any application for condonation 
must set out in full the reasons why condonation 
should be granted, the reasons for any non-compliance 
and that the matter is one worthy of consideration.

8.13  The Ombudsman, after considering any application for 
condonation, may grant or refuse such application in  
his discretion.

8.14  Where leave to appeal against any ruling or finding 
of the Ombudsman is refused by the Ombudsman, 
the unsuccessful party may, within 15 business days 
of notification of such refusal, petition the Chairman 
of the Appeal Tribunal, to review the decision of the 
Ombudsman not to grant leave for appeal. The same 
provision shall apply mutatIs mutandis to any application 
for condonation for the late filing of an appeal.

8.15  Any such request shall be addressed to the Chairman 
of the Appeal Tribunal  via the Ombudsman who shall 
convey such request to the Chairman of the Appeal 
Tribunal.  The Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal shall 
within a reasonable period of time but in any event 
not later than a period of 15 calendar days of the 
receipt of any such petition, either confirm or amend 
the decision of the Ombudsman not to grant leave to 
appeal or refusal to condone any application for the 
late filing of an appeal. The Ombudsman shall thereafter 
within a period of 5 business days, inform the parties 
accordingly.

Appeals

8.16  An appeal against the ruling or finding of the 
Ombudsman shall be heard by an Appeal Tribunal who 
shall consider the matter as if it were the Ombudsman 
and shall include the consideration of procedural as 
well as substantive matters pertaining to the objection 
raised by such party to the decision of the Ombudsman.

8.17  The Appeal Tribunal may, where it considers it necessary 
or in the interests of justice, permit the leading of 
evidence or new evidence on any matter, even if the 
Ombudsman himself did not hold a hearing, or receive 
evidence on any matter prior to making a finding on 
any complaint referred to him.

8.18  Where the Appeal Tribunal decides to permit, or calls 
for the leading of evidence, or evidence is led on material 
that was never considered by the Ombudsman, the 
tribunal may decide, in its sole discretion to invite the 
Ombudsman to consider the matter in the light of such 
evidence and to canvass the views of the Ombudsman 
on the matter.  The Ombudsman should be invited to 
comment on the new material in the manner and on 
such terms as it may regard to be fair to both parties.

8.19  Save where the Appeal Tribunal permits or calls for 
the leading of evidence, no evidence shall be led and 
the matter shall be decided by the Appeal Tribunal on 
the basis of the record of appeal furnished to it by the 
Ombudsman, including the documentation filed by the 
parties in connection with the appeal.

8.20  The record of appeal shall, save where in the opinion of 
the Ombudsman additional documentation is required, 
consist of the following:-

 8.20.1  The complainant’s Application for Assistance form 
and supporting documentation;

 8.20.2 The insurer’s response to the complaint;

 8.20.3  The complainant’s reply to the insurer’s response 
to the complaint;

 8.20.4  The Ombudsman’s finding in relation to the 
complaint and any reasons furnished by the 
Ombudsman for any ruling or finding; and

 8.20.5  The submissions or representations made by the 
parties to the Appeal Tribunal in connection with 
the appeal.

8.21  The Ombudsman may, in his discretion, when 
submitting the documentation to the Appeal Tribunal 
in connection with any appeal, make representations 
to the Appeal Tribunal by way of explanation or 
elaboration of his earlier determination and shall be 
entitled in such representations to deal with such 
matters as policy, industry practices and the approach 
followed by him in regard to equity.  In addition the 
Ombudsman may furnish the Appeal Tribunal with 
such other information as he may consider to be of 
assistance or guidance to the Appeal Tribunal, save 
that the  parties shall be afforded an opportunity to 
respond to any such additional material thus placed 
before the Appeal Tribunal.
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8.22  Save as aforesaid, the Ombudsman shall not participate 
in the appeal process save where he should be asked 
to do so by the Appeal Tribunal itself on such terms and 
in such manner as may be determined by the Tribunal.

Composition of the Appeal Tribunal

8.23  The Chairman of the Board, in consultation with the 
Vice-Chairman, must appoint the members of the 
Appeal Tribunal from the persons nominated by the 
Ombudsman.

8.24  The Appeal Tribunal must consist of a Chairperson and 
at least two members appointed for a minimum period 
of two years.

8.25  The Chairman of the Board must appoint the 
Chairperson of the Appeal Tribunal and such 
Chairperson must either be a retired Judge or a 
practicing Attorney or Advocate, or a person who 
formally practiced as an Attorney or Advocate, with 
at least ten years’ experience and with appropriate 
experience in Insurance Law.

8.26  The Chairperson of the Appeal Tribunal is responsible 
for assigning matters for adjudication, taking into 
consideration the nature and complexity of the dispute 
or any special circumstance, to a panel of two or more 
members of the Appeal Tribunal who are suitably 
qualified to decide on a particular matter.

8.27  The Chairman of the panel must be the Chairperson of 
the Appeal Tribunal.

8.28  The person’s nominated by the Ombudsman must be:

 8.28.1  Practicing Attorneys or Advocates or persons who 

formerly practiced as an Attorney or Advocate, 
with at least ten years’ experience and with 
appropriate experience in Insurance Law, and may 
include retired Judges; or

 8.28.2  Persons with extensive experience in relation to 
the insurance industry and who by virtue of their 
knowledge, training and experience are able to 
perform the functions of a member of the Appeal 
Tribunal; or

 8.28.3  Academics with the particular knowledge of 
specific areas of the law or persons of specific 
knowledge, skill or training whose expertise as an 
expert in any particular field may be appropriate.

8.29  The Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal may, in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Board and the 
Ombudsman, appoint a person who is not a member 
of the Appeal Tribunal to serve on the panel if in the 
opinion of the Chairperson of the Appeal Tribunal such 
appointment is merited or deemed desirable.

The Hearing of Appeals

8.30  The Ombudsman shall be in charge of all practical or 
administrative matters preceding and relating to the 
hearing of an appeal and shall be responsible for the 
preparation of the record, the giving of notices and 
the making of arrangements for the hearing of an 
appeal, the recording of evidence, if any, and all such 
other matters incidental to the hearing or disposal of  
the appeal.

8.31  The Appeal Tribunal shall determine its own procedure 
both prior to and during the course of the hearing, 
including the hearing of oral evidence.
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8.32  Appeals shall be heard at such place and time and in 
such manner as the Appeal Tribunal shall determine 
from time to time.

8.33  Not later than 10 business days before the hearing of an 
appeal, the appellant shall deliver to the Ombudsman 
a concise and succinct statement of the main points 
which he intends to argue on appeal, as well as the list 
of legal authorities (if any) to be tendered in support of 
each point to be raised.  Not later than 5 business days 
before the hearing of an appeal, the respondent shall 
deliver a similar statement.

8.34  The Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal may, after 
consultation with the Ombudsman, direct that a 
contemplated appeal be dealt with as an urgent matter 
and that the appeal be prosecuted at such time and in 
such manner as the Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal 
deems appropriate.

8.35  The Appeal Tribunal should approach the matter on 
appeal put forward as if it were the Ombudsman 
determining the complaint.  The Appeal Tribunal shall 
take into account the balance of probabilities and its 
finding shall be based on the criteria of law, equity  
and fairness.

8.36  The Appeal Tribunal shall deliver its judgment on the 
matter in writing to the Ombudsman within one 
calendar month of the conclusion of the hearing.  The 
Ombudsman shall in turn deliver a copy thereof to the 
parties within a period of 10 business days.

Representation 

8.37  Any party to any appeal shall have the right to be 
represented at the hearing but, wherever possible, 
the parties should confine their submissions in regard 
to matters before the Appeal Tribunal to written 
submissions contained in a statement of case including, 
where appropriate, heads of argument.

8.38  Any party who employs a representative to represent 
their interest before the Appeal Tribunal shall be 
personally responsible for any fees and expenses 
associated with such representation.

The Effect of the Decision and Order of 
the Appeal Tribunal

8.39  Where a complainant appeals against the ruling or 

finding of the Ombudsman, such person shall abide by 
the decision of the Appeal Tribunal and the order of the 
Appeal Tribunal shall be final and binding in relation to 
the proceedings before the office of the Ombudsman.  
The complainant shall however be entitled, if so desired, 
to thereafter pursue the matter further in any court  
of law.  

8.40  An unsuccessful appellant insurer shall have no further 
right of recourse or action and shall be bound by the 
terms of the order of the Appeal Tribunal save that 
nothing contained herein shall in any way affect the 
right of an insurer to review any ruling made by the 
Ombudsman or the Appeal Tribunal in a court of law.

Precedent

8.41  In recognition of the requirement that rulings made by 
the Ombudsman shall not establish any precedent in 
the Ombudsman’s office, the decisions of the Appeal 
Tribunal shall not be accorded any formal status or 
regarded as creating binding precedents, but may 
serve as guidelines for future cases.  Such findings or 
orders  may however, serve as strong persuasive value 
for the Ombudsman and any other Appeal Tribunal 
in which the same dispute may be raised so as to 
ensure consistency in the decisions of the office of  
the Ombudsman.

Cost to the Parties to Appeals

8.42  Where an insurer notes an appeal against any final 
ruling of the Ombudsman and is not, in the opinion 
of the Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal, successful 
with such appeal, it shall defray the cost of such appeal 
incurred by the Ombudsman in connection with the 
appeal proceedings.

8.43  Where the insurer is the appellant in any proceedings, 
save where the Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal may 
direct otherwise, the cost to be paid by the insurer in 
relation to any appeal proceedings may be determined 
by the Board of the Ombudsman for Short-term 
Insurance, from time to time.

8.44  Where the complainant is the appellant in any appeal 
proceedings the Ombudsman may, in his discretion and 
taking into account, inter alia, the amount of the claim, 
the complexity of the issues and the complainant’s 
personal circumstances, call upon such party to pay a 
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deposit in an amount determined by the Ombudsman 
which deposit shall be refunded to the appellant should 
the appellant be successful in the appeal.  In the event 
that the appeal fails, the deposit shall be forfeited to the 
office of the Ombudsman and shall constitute the only 
liability on the part of the complainant for the costs of 
the appeal proceedings.  If the appeal is, in the view of 
the Appeal Tribunal, successful, the amount paid by the 
appellant shall be refunded to the appellant.

8.45  In no case shall the Appeal Tribunal award costs in 
favour of a successful party and in no case shall a 
losing party to an appeal be ordered by the Appeal 
Tribunal to pay costs to the other party, save where the 
Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal considers that, having 
regard to the presence of exceptional circumstances, a 
punitive order as to costs against any party is merited.  

9. Policyholder/Complainant’s Rights

The Policy Holder/Complainant’s rights to institute proceedings 
in any competent court of law against the Insurer shall not be 
affected by any of the provisions of these terms of reference 
provided that, if the Policy Holder/Complainant institutes 
proceedings while the complaint is under investigation by the 
Ombudsman, the provisions of clause 4.2 shall apply.

10. Precedents

Rulings shall not establish any precedent in the  
Ombudsman’s office.

11. Confidentiality

11.1  The Ombudsman shall a far as possible, maintain 
confidentiality unless the parties concerned expressly 
exempt him or her from that duty and the duty shall 
continue after the termination of his or her services.  
The duty of confidentiality shall however, not prevent 
the Ombudsman from:

 11.1.1  Publishing details of rulings made by him or her.

 11.1.2  Reporting on details of rulings or furnishing 
statistical information in connection with the 
workings of the office to the South African 
Insurance Association (SAIA), the Financial Services 
Board (FSB), the National Treasury or any other 
body or organisation which may be entitled to 
receive such information from the Ombudsman 

in connection with his/her activities and/or which 
may have a legitimate interest in such information, 
having regard to its statutory mandate, role as an 
industry association or otherwise.

 11.1.3  Publishing statistics and related information in 
the Annual Report of the Association concerning 
complaints received by the Ombudsman against 
members of the Association as approved by 
the Board of the Ombudsman for Short-term 
Insurance from time to time.

 11.1.4  Filing, either on behalf of the Company, or any 
complainant from whom a complaint is received, 
a complaint with SAIA in connection with any 
Code of Conduct applicable to or adopted by that 
organisation and which may be applicable to any 
member of the Company.

11.2  The Insurer and the Complainant shall not be entitled 
to make use of any information which comes to 
their knowledge as a result of the intervention of the 
Ombudsman during the course of any investigation by 
him or her.

11.3  A complaint will be regarded as confidential as between 
the Policy Holder, the Insurer and the Ombudsman and 
it is for the Ombudsman to decide what should be 
disclosed to the Insurer and/or the Policy Holder.

11.4  Documents brought into being as a result of any 
approach to the Ombudsman shall not be liable 
to disclosure or be the subject of a discovery order 
or subpoena in the event of any legal proceedings 
between the Complainant and the Insurer.

11.5  The Ombudsman or any member of his staff will not 
be liable to be subpoenaed to give evidence on the 
subject of a complaint in any proceedings.

12.  Complaints not settled in defined 
period

The Ombudsman shall report to the Board all complaints, 
which have not been completed in one or way or another 
within a time, laid down by the Board.  This time period shall 
initially be set at 6 (six) months calculated from the date that 
a complaint became an accepted complaint.
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Members of the Board 
of Directors
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Back row from left: Collin Molepe (Industry 

Director), Leigh Bennie (Consumer Director), 

Gerhard Genis (Industry Director) and Paul 

Crankshaw (Consumer Director)

Front row from left: Gail Walters (Industry 

Director), Farzana Badat (Ex-Officio Director), 

Wendy Knowler (Consumer Director, Acting 

Chairman), Richard Steyn (Independent Director) 

and Thuli Zungu (Consumer Director)
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Professional Staff 
of the Ombudsman

Edite Teixeira-McKinon, 
Deputy Ombudsman

Senior Assistant Ombudsmen: Peter Nkhuna, 
Thasnim Dawood and Darpana Harkison

Azeht du Plessis (Office Manager) and 
Miriam Matabane (General Manager)
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Assistant Ombudsmen: Standing from left: Johan Janse Van Rensburg and Hannes Bester.   
Seated from left: Dharmita Jogee and Valerie Mngadi

From left: Assistant Ombudsmen: Ayanda Mazwi,  Adriaan Lombard, Nosipho Mfeka, John Theunissen  
and Anastatia Ngidi-Mkhwanazi (Junior Assistant Ombudsman)
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From left: Jo-Anne Goqo, Katia Lo Drago, Jolene Prinsloo, Selinah Phakoe, Janine Schultz,  
Mary Tshabalala and Karinien Kok

From left: Gadija Fisher, Candace Fourie, Terry Freemantle, Louisah Letlhabe, Aadielah Human, 
Claudia Kampmann and Michelle Grobler

Support Staff of the Ombudsman
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From left: Marinda Nolte, Melissa van Zyl, Monica Bolgann, Leonie Budricks, Marilize Blignaut  
and Sibongile Gumede

Ombudsman
Dennis Jooste

Deputy Ombudsman
Edite Teixeira-McKinon

Senior Assistant 
Ombudsmen
Darpana Harkison
Peter Nkhuna
Thasnim Dawood

Assistant Ombudsmen
Adriaan Lombard
John Theunissen
Dharmita Jogee
Valerie Mngadi
Hannes Bester
Johan Janse van Rensburg
Ayanda Mazwi
Nosipho Mfeka

Junior Assistant 
Ombudsman
Anastatia Ngidi-Mkhwanazi

General Manager/
Company Secretary
Miriam Matabane

Office Manager
Azeht du Plessis

Administration 
Supervisor
Michelle Grobler

Call Centre Supervisor
Selinah Phakoe

Call Centre Consultants
Louisah Letlhabe
Jo-Anne Goqo
Melissa Van Zyl
Gadija Fisher

Personal Assistant to 
the Ombudsman and 
Deputy Ombudsman
Karinien Kok

Secretarial
Leonie Budricks
Katia Lo Drago
Monica Bolgann
Janine Schultz
Mary Tshabalala
Aadielah Human
Jolene Prinsloo
Terry Freemantle
Marilize Blignaut
Joanne Sergel
Jolene Prinsloo
Claudia Kampmann 
Candice Fourie
Marinda Nolte

Receptionist
Refilwe Mokoena

Clerical
Sibongile Gumede
Mavis Mabaso

Clerical Assistant/Office 
Cleaner
Mariam Khampepe
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Members of the Ombudsman Scheme
ABSA Insurance Company Limited

ACE Insurance 

AIG South Africa Limited

Alexander Forbes Insurance Company Limited

Allianz Insurance Company

Auto & General Insurance Company Limited

Bidvest Insurance Limited

Budget Insurance Company Limited

Centriq Insurance Company Limited

Compass Insurance Company Limited

Constantia Insurance Company Limited

Corporate Guarantee (South Africa) Limited

Dial Direct Insurance Company Limited

Discovery Insure

Emerald Insurance Company Limited

First For Women Insurance Company Limited

GENRIC Insurance 

Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited

Hollard Insurance Company Limited

Indequity Specialised Insurance Limited

Infiniti Specialised Insurance Limited

JDG Micro Insurance Limited

King Price Insurance

Legal Express Southern Africa Limited

Lion of Africa Insurance Company Limited

Lloyds South Africa

Lombard Insurance Group

MiWay Insurance Limited

Momentum ST Insurance Company Limited

Monarch Insurance Company Limited

Mutual & Federal Insurance Company Limited

Natsure Limited

Nedgroup Insurance Company Limited

New National Assurance Company Limited

NMS Insurance Services (SA) Limited

Oakhurst Insurance Company Limited

Old Mutual Health Insurance Limited

OUTsurance Insurance Company Limited

Regent Insurance Company Limited

Relyant Insurance Company Limited

Renasa Insurance Company Limited

RMB Structured Insurance

SA Home Loans Insurance Company Limited

SAFIRE Insurance Company Limited

Santam Limited

SASRIA SOC Limited

SaXum Insurance Company Limited

Shoprite Insurance Company

Standard Insurance Limited

Sunderland Marine (Africa) Limited

Unitrans Insurance Company Limited

Vodacom 

Western National Insurance Company Limited

Zurich Insurance Company South Africa Limited
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USEFUL INFORMATION ABOUT OTHER OFFICES
1.  Ombudsman for Long-Term 

Insurance
 Private Bag X45, Claremont 7735
 Telephone: 021 657 5000
 Sharecall: 0860 662 837
 Fax: 021 674 0951
 E-mail: info@ombud.co.za
 Website: www.ombud.co.za

2. The Statutory Ombudsman
 PO Box 74571, Lynnwoodridge, 0040
 Sharecall: 0860 324 766
 Telephone: 012 470 9080
 Fax: 012 348 3447
 Email: info@faisombud.co.za
 Website: www.faisombud.co.za

3.  The Ombud for Financial 
Service Providers

 PO Box 74571, Lynnwoodridge, 0040
 Sharecall: 0860 324 766
 Telephone: 012 470 9080
 Fax: 012 348 3447
 Email: info@faisombud.co.za
 Website: www.faisombud.co.za

4.  The Ombudsman for 
Banking Services

 PO Box 87056, Houghton, 2041
 Sharecall: 0860 800 900
 Telephone: 011 712 1800
 Fax: 011 483 3212
 Email: info@obssa.co.za
  Website: www.obssa.co.za

5. The Credit Ombud
 P O Box 805, Pinegowrie, 2123
 Call Centre: 0861 622 837
 Fax: 0866 834 644
 Email: ombud@creditombud.org.za
 Website: www.creditombud.org.za

6.  Motor Industry 
Ombudsman of South Africa

 Suite 156, Private Bag X025, 
 Lynnwood Ridge, 0040
 Telephone: 012 841 2945
 Fax: 0866 306 145
 Email: johan@miosa.co.za
 Website: www.miosa.co.za

7.  The Consumer Goods and 
Services Ombud

  Association House, Bond Office Park, 
Cnr Bond and Kent, Randburg

 Telephone: 011 781 2607
 Fax: 0866 818 621
 Email: info@cgso.org.za
 Website: www.cgso.org.za

8.  Financial Ombudsman Call 
Centre

 Sharecall: 0860OMBUDS/0860662837

9.  The Pension Funds 
Adjudicator

 P O Box 580, Menlyn, 0063
 Telephone: 012 346 1738
 Fax: 086 693 7472
 Email: enquiries@pfa.org.za
 Website: www.pfa.org.za

10.  The National Credit 
Regulator

 127, 15th Road, Randjespark, Midrand
 Call Centre: 0860 627 627
 Email: complaints@ncr.org.za
 Telephone: 011 554 2600
 Website: www.ncr.org.za

11.  Public Protector
 Private Bag X677, Pretoria, 0001
 Telephone: 012 366 7000
 Fax: 012 362 3473
 Toll free number: 0800 11 20 40
 Website: www.pprotect.org

12. The Financial Services Board
 PO Box 35655, Menlo Park, 0102
 Toll-free: 0800 110 443 or  
 0800 202 087
 Telephone: 012 428 8000
 Fax: 012 346 6941
 Email: info@fsb.co.za
 Website: www.fsb.co.za 

13.   National Consumer 
Commission

 Private Bag X84, Pretoria, 0001
 Tel: 012 761 3000
 Fax: 086 758 4990
 Email: complaints@thencc.org.za
 Website: www.nccsa.org.za

Acknowledgements

Our appreciation is expressed to Hollard Insurance for allowing us to photograph the professional staff at the historical Villa Arcadia.

All photograph copyrights are vested with the original photographer and/or image library: 
Dreamstime: Cover, p11, p22, p51,p53,p61 
Shutterstock: p2, p18, p43, p54 
Dollar Photo Club: p9, p40, p42, p46, p58 
Johnny de Gouveia: p4, p6, p64, p66, p67, p68, p69

J6
63

9 
- P

ap
rik

a 
G

ra
ph

ics
 a

nd
 C

om
m

un
ica

tio
ns



CONTACT US

Sunnyside Office Park, 5th Floor, Building D, 32 Princess of Wales Terrace, Parktown, Johannesburg
P O Box 32334, Braamfontein, 2017

Share Call Number: 0860 726 890   |   Telephone: 011 726-8900   |   Facsimile: 011 726-5501
Email: info@osti.co.za   |   Twitter : @Ombud4ShortTerm 

Website: http://www.osti.co.za


